

Metastability of wall configurations in ferromagnetic nanowires

Gilles Carbou

► To cite this version:

Gilles Carbou. Metastability of wall configurations in ferromagnetic nanowires. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 2014, 46 (1), pp.45-95. 10.1137/13090568X. hal-00993750

HAL Id: hal-00993750 https://hal.science/hal-00993750

Submitted on 28 Mar 2019 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Metastability of Wall Configurations in Ferromagnetic Nanowires

Gilles Carbou

LMAP - UMR CNRS 5142 Université de Pau et des Pays de l'Adour Avenue de l'Université - BP 1155 64013 PAU CEDEX FRANCE email: gilles.carbou@univ-pau.fr

Abstract. In this paper we consider a one dimensional model of ferromagnetic nanowire subject to a non constant electromagnetic field. Taking into account the ratio between the exchange length and the length of the wire, we prove that the wall configurations are persistent in a large time interval.

MSC: 35K55, 35Q60.

Keywords: Landau-Lifschitz equation, domain walls, stability.

Contents

1	Introduction	1				
	1.1 Context	1				
	1.2 Statement of the main results	5				
	1.3 Plan of the paper	9				
	1.4 Index of symbols and notations	10				
2	New coordinates					
	2.1 Properties of the profiles $\mathbf{m}_{c}(\theta, \sigma)$	10				
	2.2 Inversion Theorem for the new coordinates	13				
3	Meta-stability for a piecewise constant applied field					
	3.1 Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.3	17				
	3.2 Coercivity of the operator $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}$	22				
	3.3 Estimate of the remainder linear contributions	27				
4	Equations in the new coordinates					
	4.1. Equation for $d\theta_i$ and $d\sigma_i$	9 9				
	4.1 Equation for $\frac{dt}{dt}$ and $\frac{dt}{dt}$	J J				
	4.2 Equation for w	39				
5	Meta Stability for a general applied field	40				
	5.1 New coordinates for the non-constant applied field case	41				
	5.2 Estimates for Theorem 1.1	11				
		-1-1				

1 Introduction

1.1 Context

The description of domain walls motion is one of the most challenging topics in ferromagnetism. In the 3-dimensional case, the pioneering works of Walker (see [36] and [41]) give a first model for planar walls in an infinite anisotropic ferromagnetic domain subject to an applied field. A first step to understand the stability of Walker's solutions with respect to the Landau-Lifschitz equation is done in

[9]. Guès and Sueur study in [22] non planar walls dynamics but only in a short time interval. In the 2-dimensional case, a wide literature in mathematics gives a few elements to describe the formation of static walls in ferromagnetic thin layers (see [1], [2], [19], [20], [34] and the references therein). The understanding of walls dynamics in one dimensional devices like ferromagnetic nanowires is very important for the applications, in particular for the storage of digital information (see [37]). For 3-dimensional models of nanowires, let us mention the works of Khün who constructs wall profiles for thin nanowires in [24] and [25]. For one dimensional models of nanowires, the description of walls motion is more complete (see [38] and the references given below). In this paper, we aim to describe the motion of several walls for the following one dimensional model of finite nanowire subject to an applied non constant magnetic field.

The wire is assimilated to the segment $[0, L]e_1$, where (e_1, e_2, e_3) is the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^3 . The magnetic moment $m = (m_1, m_2, m_3)$ is defined for $(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L]$ and takes its values in S^2 , the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^3 :

$$\forall t \ge 0, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}, |m(t,x)| = 1$$
 (saturation constraint) (1.1)

(we denote by $|\cdot|$ the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^3). The micromagnetism energy is given by

$$\mathcal{E}(m) = \mathcal{E}_{exch}(m) + \mathcal{E}_{dem}(m) + \mathcal{E}_{Zee}(m),$$

where the terms are defined as follows.

• The exchange energy is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{exch}(m) = \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} \int_{[0,L]} \left| \frac{\partial m}{\partial x} \right|^2,$$

where we denote by ε^2 the exchange coefficient.

• The demagnetizing energy is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{dem}(m) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{[0,L]} (|m_2|^2 + |m_3|^2).$$

This asymptotic model for infinitely thin nanowires with round section is justified by asymptotic expansion arguments in [35] and by Γ -convergence arguments in [14]. This part of the energy forces m to be parallel to the wire axis e_1 .

• The Zeeman energy describes the effects of the applied magnetic field $H_a = he_1$:

$$\mathcal{E}_{Zee}(m) = -\int_{[0,L]} hm_1$$

The dynamics of the magnetization is described by the Landau-Lifschitz equation:

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -m \times H_{eff} - m \times (m \times H_{eff}), \qquad (1.2)$$

where the effective field H_{eff} is derived from the micromagnetism energy:

$$H_{eff} = -\nabla_m \mathcal{E} = \varepsilon^2 \partial_{xx} m - m_2 e_2 - m_3 e_3 + h e_1.$$

At the boundary, as for minimizers, we assume that m satisfies the homogeneous Neumann condition:

$$\partial_x m(0) = \partial_x m(L) = 0. \tag{1.3}$$

We first remark that since it only appears $m \times H_{eff}$ in the equation, we can replace $-m_2e_2 - m_3e_3$ in the effective field by m_1e_1 . In addition, we aim to study the long time behavior of the solutions, so we perform in (1.2) the rescaling in time $\tilde{t} := \varepsilon t$. Therefore we deal with the following system:

$$\begin{cases} m: I\!\!R^+ \times [0, L] \to S^2, \\ \frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -m \times H^{\varepsilon}(m, h) - m \times (m \times H^{\varepsilon}(m, h)), \\ H^{\varepsilon}(m, h) = \varepsilon \frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} m_1 e_1 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} h e_1, \\ \frac{\partial m}{\partial x}(0) = \frac{\partial m}{\partial x}(L) = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(1.4)$$

Remark 1.1. The time rescaling $\tilde{t} := \varepsilon t$ induces the presence of the stiff terms $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}he_1$ and $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}m_1e_1$ in the effective field. As we will see below, this is the good rescaling to observe walls motion with a velocity of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ when the applied field is of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ (see Remark 1.2 below).

Let us assume that the applied field vanishes. The minimizers of the energy are the constant solutions $-e_1$ and $+e_1$, since the demagnetizing energy tends to align m with the wire axis. So if a magnetization configuration presents a domain in which the magnetization is almost constant, this constant will be either $-e_1$ or $+e_1$. We aim to describe configurations with N+1 domains (in which the magnetic moment is close to $+e_1$ or $-e_1$) separated by N walls, when the nanowire is subject to an applied field depending on x and t. Let us review the known results concerning the walls motion in one dimensional nanowires models.

For an infinite nanowire, we consider in [14] and [16] the following model. The wire is assimilated to the real line $\mathbb{R}e_1$. By rescaling in the space variable x, we remove the exchange coefficient, so that the magnetic moment m satisfies:

$$\begin{cases} m: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \to S^2, \\ \frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -m \times H(m, h) - m \times (m \times H(m, h)), \\ H(m, h) = \frac{\partial^2 m}{\partial x^2} + m_1 e_1 + h e_1. \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

For this model, we consider one wall separating two domains, the left hand-side one in which the magnetization is almost equal to $-e_1$, the right hand side one in which the magnetization is almost equal to $+e_1$. Such a wall can be described by the profile M_0 :

$$M_0(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \tanh x \\ 1/\cosh x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which is an exact solution for (1.5) with h = 0. In addition, we remark that (1.5) is invariant by translation in the x variable and by rotation around the wire axis, so that for all $(\theta, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $x \mapsto \mathbf{R}_{\theta} M_0(x - \sigma)$ is another static solution for (1.5) with vanishing applied field describing one wall configuration, with

$$\mathbf{R}_{\theta} = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \cos\theta & -\sin\theta\\ 0 & \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{array}\right).$$

We prove in [14] that M_0 is a stable static solution for (1.5) with h = 0.

When the applied field h is a non vanishing constant, we observe that the wall is rotating and moving: a solution for (1.5) with a constant non vanishing applied field h is given by

$$(t,x) \mapsto \mathbf{R}_{ht} M_0(x+ht).$$

We prove in [16] that this solution is stable for small values of h. Jizzini gives in [27] the threshold value of the applied field for the stability: if |h| < 1, then the above solution is stable. If |h| > 1 then this solution is linearly unstable. We remark that we have exactly the same threshold effect for constant solutions (modeling domains): $x \mapsto e_1$ is always a constant solution but it is unstable for $h \leq -1$. In the same way, $x \mapsto -e_1$ is unstable for $h \geq 1$.

Remark 1.2. Taking into account the exchange coefficient ε^2 and the rescaling in time explained in Remark 1.1, we obtain for an infinite nanowire the model:

$$\begin{cases} m: \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R} \to S^{2}, \\ \frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -m \times H^{\varepsilon}(m, h) - m \times (m \times H^{\varepsilon}(m, h)) \\ H^{\varepsilon}(m, h) = \varepsilon \frac{\partial^{2} m}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} m_{1} e_{1} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} h e_{1}. \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

For a constant applied field, the motion for one wall is described by:

$$(t,x)\mapsto \mathbf{R}_{\frac{ht}{\varepsilon}}\left(M_0(\frac{x+ht}{\varepsilon})\right),$$

so that a constant applied field of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ induces a wall translation with a velocity of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$. Without time rescaling, the same order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ applied field would induce a wall displacement of velocity εh .

Remark 1.3. The motion of one wall separating a left hand side $+e_1$ domain to a right hand side $-e_1$ domain is described in the model (1.6) by the profile:

$$(t,x)\mapsto \mathbf{R}_{\frac{ht}{\varepsilon}}\left(M_0(-\frac{x-ht}{\varepsilon})\right).$$

For this infinite wire model, we should consider solutions describing more than one wall, but the situation is very rigid: such solutions are given by periodic static solutions of the Landau-Lifschitz equation, so that the walls are periodically situated on the wire. In addition, these solutions are linearly unstable (see [32]).

For a finite nanowire, the situation is even worse. Indeed, for single wall configurations, we only obtain one solution (modulo rotation around the wire axis). In addition, this solution is centered in the middle of the wire and is unstable (see [15] for more details).

Therefore, the previous studies do not give a description for realistic configurations with several walls located in arbitrary positions on a finite wire.

In order to understand the dynamics of such configurations, we will construct approximate solutions and we will prove that the solutions of (1.4) remain close to our approximation on a large time interval when ε is small.

Our approach is inspired by the paper of Carr and Pego [17] concerning the Allen-Cahn model. They consider the scalar equation:

$$\begin{aligned}
& \left(\begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \varepsilon^2 \partial_{xx} u - f(u), \\ & \partial_x u(0,t) = \partial_x u(1,t) = 0, \\ & u: I\!\!R_t^+ \times [0,1] \to I\!\!R, \end{aligned}$$
(1.7)

where f = F' is derived from the potential F with two non degenerate minima at the points -1 and +1 (the classical example is $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2 - 1)^2$). They prove that patterns with static transition

layers are persistent on a time scale of order $\exp(C/\varepsilon)$. Roughly speaking, they consider a manifold \mathcal{M} of approximate solutions with N phase transitions located at the points h_1, h_2, \ldots, h_N . To study solutions near \mathcal{M} , they describe the exact solution u of (1.7) writing

$$u(t,x) = u^{h(t)}(x) + v(t,x),$$
(1.8)

where $u^{h(t)} \in \mathcal{M}$ is the approximate solution with N phase transitions located at the points $h_1(t), \ldots, h_N(t)$, and where $v(t, \cdot)$ is orthogonal to the manifold \mathcal{M} at the point $u^{h(t)}$. By analyzing the linearized problem for v, they prove that v remains small, so that the dynamics of u is essentially described by the very slow dynamics of the phase transitions patterns $u^{h(t)}$.

We adopt in our paper the same strategy. First we construct a manifold of approximate solutions. Then we describe the dynamics near this manifold in a system of coordinates in the same spirit as (1.8), and we prove that the orthogonal part (similar to v) remains small. The Landau-Lifschitz equation entails new technical difficulties compared to the Allen-Cahn equation. First, it is vectorial so that the construction of approximate solutions must be totally modified: in our case, because of the invariance of (1.4) by rotation around the wire axis, the manifold for N walls is 2N dimensional. In addition, the constraint |m| = 1 has to be taken into account for the new system of coordinates. The quasilinear character of the Landau-Lifschitz equation induces a more careful study of the non linear terms. Furthermore, contrarily to the Allen-Cahn problem for which the phase transitions are essentially static, we are able to describe the motion of the walls induced by the applied magnetic field, so that our result can be used to prove a meta-controllability for the position of the walls.

Remark 1.4. The metastability for the Allen-Cahn equation is also obtained with energetic methods by Bronsard and Kohn [7] and more recently by Otto and Reznikoff (see [33] and the reference therein). Energetic methods are used in a vectorial framework in [5] to obtain the metastability of phase transitions. This kind of methods could be used for the Landau-Lifschitz equation without applied field.

1.2 Statement of the main results

Let us describe our approximate solutions.

We aim to describe the behavior of a distribution of N walls separating $-e_1$ and $+e_1$ domains, subject to an applied magnetic field depending on t and x. We assume that the domain close to the boundary 0 is a $-e_1$ domain. We denote by $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_N$ the positions of the walls and we assume that the walls remain distant from one another and are far from the ends of the wire. We fix $\delta > 0$ such that $\delta N \ll L$. We assume that $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_N)$ belongs to Σ_{δ} with:

$$\Sigma_{\delta} = \left\{ (\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ 0 < \sigma_1 - \delta < \sigma_1 + \delta < \sigma_2 - \delta < \dots < \sigma_N - \delta < \sigma_N + \delta < L \right\}.$$

For $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$ and $\theta = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ we aim to describe a configuration of domains $[\sigma_i + \delta, \sigma_{i+1} - \delta]$ in which the magnetic moment is equal to $(1)^{i+1}e_1$, and these domains are separated by walls, where the wall *i* is centered at the point σ_i . In a central zone $[\sigma_i - 3\delta/4, \sigma_i + 3\delta/4]$ of the wall *i*, our profile coincides with an exact static solution of (1.4) describing one wall in an infinite wire. We use a cut off function to glue this solution to the constant ones in the neighboring domains.

By convention, we denote $\sigma_0 = -\delta$ and $\sigma_{N+1} = L + \delta$. Let us introduce a smooth cut off function $\psi : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1] \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that $\psi(s) = 0$ for $s \leq \frac{3\delta}{4}$ and $\psi(s) = 1$ for $s \geq \frac{7\delta}{8}$. We define $\varphi_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{\pi}{2}\psi(x) - \frac{\pi}{2}\psi(-x) + (1 - \psi(x) - \psi(-x))\operatorname{arcsin} \tanh\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right), \qquad (1.9)$$

so that $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{\pi}{2}$ for $x > \frac{7\delta}{8}$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ for $x < -\frac{7\delta}{8}$ and $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \operatorname{arcsin} \tanh\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right)$ for $x \in [-\frac{3\delta}{4}, \frac{3\delta}{4}]$.

For a fixed (θ, σ) in $\mathbb{I}\!\!R^N \times \Sigma_{\delta}$, we define $\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} : [0, L] \to \mathbb{I}\!\!R$ and $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) : [0, L] \to S^2$ by:

• for $x \in [\sigma_{i-1} + \delta, \sigma_i - \delta]$, $i \in \{1, \dots, N+1\}$, that is for x in the i^{th} domain,

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}(x) = (-1)^{i} \frac{\pi}{2}$$
 and $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = (-1)^{i} e_{1},$

• for $x \in [\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$, that is for x in the i^{th} wall,

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}(x) = (-1)^{i+1} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}(x) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}(x) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In particular, in the central zone of the wall $[\sigma_i - \frac{3\delta}{4}, \sigma_i + \frac{3\delta}{4}]$, $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x)$ coincides with $\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}}M_0\left((-1)^{i+1}\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}\right)$, which is a static solution of (1.6) for an infinite nanowire with vanishing applied field (see Remarks 1.2 and 1.3).

Remark 1.5. In [17], the approximate solutions u^h with $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_N)$ are built in a different way: between $h_i + \varepsilon$ and $h_{i+1} - \varepsilon$, u^h fits with the exact solution of $\varepsilon^2 \Phi_{xx} - f(\Phi) = 0$, $\Phi(h_i) = \Phi(h_{i+1}) = 0$. In our vectorial case, this construction is not relevant since the approximate solution can take its values in different planes at the walls i and i+1 (the angle θ_i/ε has no reason to be equal to θ_{i+1}/ε).

We define the set $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$ by

$$\mathcal{M}_{\delta}^{\varepsilon} = \left\{ \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma), \theta \in I\!\!R^{N}, \ \sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta} \right\}$$

We will prove that for small values of ε and with additional assumptions on h (see below), then for initial data close to $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$, the solution of (1.4) remains close to the manifold $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$ in a large time interval. The key point of our analysis is the use of new coordinates valid in a neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$.

For $\varepsilon > 0$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, we define $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$, the set of the $w \in H^1([0, L]; \mathbb{R}^3)$ satisfying

(i)
$$\forall x \in [0, L], w(x) \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = 0,$$

(ii)
$$\forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) | w \right\rangle = 0,$$

(iii) $\forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad \langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) | w \rangle = 0,$

where we denote by \cdot the euclidean scalar product in \mathbb{R}^3 , and where $\langle .|. \rangle$ is the inner product in $L^2([0, L])$ (the associated $L^2([0, L])$ norm is denoted by $\|.\|_{L^2}$)

Remark 1.6. The space $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$ looks like the tangent space at the point $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)$ of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$, which is a submanifold of $H^1([0,L]; S^2)$. In particular, the pointwise orthogonality condition (i) is due to the saturation constraint |m| = 1 satisfied by the elements of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta} \subset H^1([0,L]; S^2)$.

We endow $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$ with the norm:

$$||w||_{\varepsilon} = \left(\varepsilon ||\partial_x w||_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} ||w||_{L^2}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Remark 1.7. This norm uniformly controls the $L^{\infty}([0, L] \text{ norm (denoted by } \|.\|_{L^{\infty}})$, i.e. there exists a constant C such that

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall w \in H^1([0, L]), \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w\|_{\varepsilon}.$$

We denote by $\operatorname{dist}(m, \mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta})$ the distance from m to $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$ for the L^{∞} norm:

$$\operatorname{dist}(m, \mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}) = \inf_{v \in \mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}} \|m - v\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

and we introduce the map $\nu : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\nu(\xi) = \sqrt{1 - |\xi|^2} - 1. \tag{1.10}$$

In a neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$, we use the new system of coordinates described by the following proposition, proved in Section 2.2

Proposition 1.1. There exist $\gamma_0 > 0$ and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in]0, \varepsilon_0[$ and for all $m \in H^1([0,L]; S^2)$, if $dist(m, \mathcal{M}_{2\delta}^{\varepsilon}) \leq \gamma_0$, then there exists (θ, σ, w) with $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$ and $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$ such that

$$m = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$$

In addition, for a fixed m, θ is unique in $\mathbb{R}^N/(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^N$ and (σ, w) is unique in $\Sigma_{\delta} \times \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$.

Our first theorem states that for a vanishing applied field, the elements of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$ are metastable static quasi solutions for the problem (1.4).

Theorem 1.1. Let $\nu_0 > 0$. There exist $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ and $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in]0, \varepsilon_1[$, for all $(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma}) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{2\delta}$, then if $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma_{2\delta}$ and $w_0 \in \mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta_0,\sigma_0}$ satisfy $|\theta_0 - \bar{\theta}| + |\sigma_0 - \bar{\sigma}| + ||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \leq \alpha_0$, the solution m of (1.4) with vanishing applied field h = 0 and with initial data $m_0 = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0) + w_0 + \nu(w_0)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0)$ can be written as

$$m(t) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)),$$

with, for all $t \in [0, e^{\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}]$,

$$|\sigma(t) - \bar{\sigma}| + |\theta(t) - \bar{\theta}| + ||w(t)||_{\varepsilon} \le \nu_0.$$

Let us consider now the case of a non vanishing applied field. We assume that the wire is subject to a non constant magnetic field $(t, x) \mapsto h(t, x)e_1$. We assume that $h \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L]; \mathbb{R})$ and that there exist $\tau > 0$ and K such that:

•
$$\forall (t,x), |h(t,x)| \leq 1 - 3\tau,$$

• $\forall (t,x), |\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}(t,x)| + |\frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2}(t,x)| \leq K.$
(1.11)

We consider $(\theta^{ref}, \sigma^{ref}) \in \mathcal{C}^1(I\!\!R^+; I\!\!R^N \times I\!\!R^N)$ the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\sigma_i^{ref}}{dt} = (-1)^i h(t, \sigma_i^{ref}), \\ \frac{d\theta_i^{ref}}{dt} = h(t, \sigma_i^{ref}), \\ \sigma^{ref}(t=0) = \overline{\sigma}, \quad \theta^{ref}(t=0) = \overline{\theta}. \end{cases}$$
(1.12)

As we will see below, this system basically describes the motion of the walls. We assume that the applied magnetic field does not produce the collapse of the walls, *i.e.* we assume that:

$$\forall t > 0, \sigma^{ref}(t) \in \Sigma_{2\delta}. \tag{1.13}$$

Our second theorem states that if $(\overline{\theta}, \overline{\sigma}) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{2\delta}$, then for ε small enough, if the initial data is close to $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\overline{\theta}, \overline{\sigma})$, then the solution remains close to $(t, x) \mapsto \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta^{ref}(t), \sigma^{ref}(t))$ on a time interval whose size is of order $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\varepsilon})$.

Theorem 1.2. Let $\nu_0 > 0$. There exist $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ and $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in]0, \varepsilon_1[$, for all h and $(\theta^{ref}, \sigma^{ref})$ satisfying (1.11)-(1.12), then if $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma_{2\delta}$ and $w_0 \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta_0,\sigma_0}^{\varepsilon}$ satisfy

$$|\theta_0 - \bar{\theta}| + |\sigma_0 - \bar{\sigma}| + ||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \le \alpha_0,$$

then the solution m of (1.4) with initial data $m_0 = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0) + w_0 + \nu(w_0)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0)$ can be written as

$$m(t) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t))$$

with, for all $t \in [0, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}]$,

- $||w(t)||_{\varepsilon} \leq \nu_0$,
- $\sigma(t) \in \Sigma_{\delta}$,
- for all i, $|\sigma_i(t) \sigma_i^{ref}(t)| \le \nu_0$ and $|\theta_i(t) \theta_i^{ref}(t)| \le \nu_0$.

Remark 1.8. The first assumption in (1.11) is natural to obtain metastability. Indeed, we know that the constant solution $+e_1$ (resp. $-e_1$) is unstable for the constant applied field $h = -e_1$ (resp. $+e_1$). So we should not expect stability for |h| > 1.

Remark 1.9. The dynamics described by (1.12) are deduced by the exact dynamics for one wall in the case of an infinite wire (see Remarks 1.2 and 1.3).

We can improve this result if the applied magnetic field is constant in the walls, that is if:

$$\forall t \ge 0, \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad \forall x \in [\sigma_i^{ref}(t) - 2\delta, \sigma_i^{ref}(t) + 2\delta], \quad \partial_x h(t, x) = 0.$$
(1.14)

Remark 1.10. This assumption is an hypothesis on the given applied field h.

In this case, the solution remains close to $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta^{ref}, \sigma^{ref})$ on a time interval of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{\frac{c}{\varepsilon}})$, as it is claimed in our third theorem.

Theorem 1.3. Let $\nu_0 > 0$. There exist $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ and $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in]0, \varepsilon_1[$, for all h and $(\theta^{ref}, \sigma^{ref})$ satisfying (1.11)-(1.12) and the additional assumption (1.14). Then if $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma_{2\delta}$ and $w_0 \in W^{\varepsilon}_{\theta_0,\sigma_0}$ satisfy $|\theta_0 - \overline{\theta}| + |\sigma_0 - \overline{\sigma}| + ||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \leq \alpha_0$, the solution m of (1.4) with initial data $m_0 = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0) + w_0 + \nu(w_0)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_0, \sigma_0)$ can be written as

$$m(t) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)),$$

with, for all $t \in [0, e^{\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}]$,

- $||w(t)||_{\varepsilon} \leq \nu_0$,
- $\sigma(t) \in \Sigma_{\delta}$,
- for all i, $|\sigma_i(t) \sigma_i^{ref}(t)| \leq \nu_0$ and $|\theta_i(t) \theta_i^{ref}(t)| \leq \nu_0$.

Remark 1.11. Our results do not describe neither the collapse of two walls nor when a wall goes out of the wire. Indeed Assumption (1.13) is crucial in our analysis.

Remark 1.12. As a corollary we should prove a quasi controllability result for the position of the walls with the applied field as command: if σ^{\flat} and σ^{\sharp} are in $\Sigma_{2\delta}$, there exists a command $(t, x) \mapsto h(t, x)$ such that if $\varepsilon > 0$ is small enough, if the initial data is closed to $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta^{\flat}, \sigma^{\flat})$ (for an arbitrary θ^{\flat}), then after a time interval whose size is of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$, the solution is close to $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta^{\sharp}, \sigma^{\sharp})$ where θ^{\sharp} is obtained with (1.12).

1.3 Plan of the paper

Our paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we prove that the system of coordinates (θ, σ, w) is relevant in a neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$. The size of this neighborhood (for the L^{∞} norm) does not depend on ε . We assume in Parts 3 and 4 that the applied field is constant in the walls. We relax this assumption in Part 5.

In Section 3.1 we give a detailed overview of the proof of Theorem 1.3. For the convenience of the reader, the technical points are postponed in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 (study of the linear contributions arising in the equation for w) and in Part 4 (obtention of equivalent form of the Landau-Lifschitz equation in the new variables (θ, σ, w)).

The quasi invariance of the system with respect to the rotations and the translations induces that 0 is almost an eigenvalue of order 2N for the linearized of the Landau-Lifschitz equation (1.4) around \mathbf{m}_{ε} . In our decomposition, this invariance is contained in the variable θ and σ so that the linearized in the variable w is coercive. Roughly speaking, for one wall, the coercivity is obtained by factorization of the operator (as in our previous papers [14], [16]). For one domain, the coercivity is straightforward. We couple these coercivity results in both cases with a trick called IMS decomposition formula using a good system of cut-off functions.

The coercivity of the linearized in the equation on w induces that w remains small for all times and that σ remains in Σ_{δ} in a time interval of size $\mathcal{O}(e^{\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$. Therefore the wall structure remains very stable, but a wall should go out of the wire or collapse with another wall at a very large time.

The quasi stability time for a non constant applied field is of order $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\varepsilon})$ as it is proved in Section 5. We are less precise in this case because the description of the wall profiles when the wall is in a non constant magnetic field is not so precise.

Definition 1.1. Let u be a function depending on x, ε , θ and σ with values either in \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{R}^k or $\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^2;\mathbb{R}^2)$ (linear maps from \mathbb{R}^2 to \mathbb{R}^2). We say that $u = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ in an interval $I \subset [0, L]$ if:

$$\forall k, l, m, p \in \mathbb{N}, \exists C, \forall \varepsilon \in]0, 1], \forall \theta \in \mathbb{R}^N, \forall \sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}, \|\frac{1}{\varepsilon^p} \partial_x^k \partial_{\sigma}^l \partial_{\theta}^m u\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} \le Ce^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}.$$
(1.15)

For example, we will write that $\tanh \frac{x}{\varepsilon} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ for $x \ge \frac{\delta}{2}$.

Remark 1.13. Ferromagnetism is a recent topic in mathematics. The first existence result for the Landau-Lifschitz equation is due to Visintin [40]. Existence and non uniqueness of weak solutions are proved in [3] for a simplified 3d model. Existence and asymptotic behavior studies are performed in [10]. Local in time existence of strong solutions is tackled in [11, 12, 13]. Partial regularity for particular weak solutions is obtained in [21, 23]. Numerical simulations are described in [4, 6, 28, 29, 30, 31, 39]. The main difficulties are the quasilinear character of the equations, the preservation of the saturation constraint by the numerical schemes, and the non local character of the demagnetizing field in 3d.

1.4 Index of symbols and notations.

.	p. 2	h_i	p. 17	$r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 41
•	p. 6	$h^{arepsilon}$	p. 10	S^2	p. 2
$\langle . . \rangle$	p. 6	K_i	p. 41	T_i	p. 32
$\langle . . \rangle_{\mathbb{R}}$	p. 24	$\mathcal{L}(I\!\!R^2; I\!\!R^2)$	p. 9	V^{ε}	p. 40
$\ \cdot\ _{\varepsilon}$	p. 6	\mathcal{L}^i	p. 42	$\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$	p. 6
$\ \ _{L^{2}(I\!\!R)}$	p. 25	ℓ	p. 25	$Z^{arepsilon}$	p. 40
$\ \ _{L^2}$	p. 6	L_{\perp}	p. 2	$\overline{Z^{\varepsilon}}$	p. 42
$\ .\ _{L^{\infty}}$	p. 6	L^i	p. 36	α_{ε}	p. 10
a_{ε}	p. 18	l^{ε}	p. 18	β_{ε}	p. 10
$a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 17	$l_{arepsilon}^{ heta_i}$	p. 17	γ_i	p. 41
$a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$	p. 17	$l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 17	ε	p. 2
A_{ε}	p. 43	$\mathcal{M}^arepsilon_\delta$	p. 6	θ^{ref}	p. 7
c_1	p. 19	M_0	p. 3	Λ_{ε}	p. 18
c_2	p. 19	M_1	p. 24	λ_i	p. 42
e_i	p. 2	M_2	p. 24	ν	p. 7
${\cal F}$	p. 13	m_i	p. 2	$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$	p. 18
F^i	p. 36	$\mathbf{m}_{arepsilon}$	p. 5	$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 18
f^{σ}_{ε}	p. 11	$\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$	p. 9	$\Pi^{h,\theta_i}_{\varepsilon}$	p. 41
\mathcal{G}_{\perp}	p. 15	P_{ε}	p. 18	$\Pi^{h,\sigma_i}_{\varepsilon}$	p. 41
\mathcal{G}^i	p. 42	$\overline{P_{\varepsilon}}$	p. 42	$\rho_{\varepsilon}^{ heta,\sigma}$	p. 11
G^{ε}	p. 18	Q^i	p. 36	Σ_{δ}	p. 5
$G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$	p. 17	$Q_{arepsilon}^{ heta_i}$	p. 35	σ^{ref}	p. 7
$G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 17	$Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$	p. 36	τ	p. 7
$\overline{G_{\varepsilon}}$	p. 43	$ ilde{Q}^i$	p. 37	φ_{ε}	p. 5
$\mathcal{H}^{arepsilon}$	p. 18	$\mathbf{R}_{ heta}$	p. 3	$\varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}$	p. 5
H_{eff}	p. 2	R^i	p. 36	χ	p. 22
H^{ε}	p. 3	$r^i_arepsilon$	p. 42	$\overline{\chi}$	p. 45
h	p. 2	$r_{\varepsilon}^{ heta_i}$	p. 41		

2 New coordinates

The goal of this section is to establish the validity of the coordinates (θ, σ, w) defined in Proposition 1.1.

2.1 Properties of the profiles $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$

We denote by h^{ε} the operator defined by:

$$h^{\varepsilon}(v) = \varepsilon \partial_{xx} v + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} v_1 e_1, \qquad (2.1)$$

so that $H^{\varepsilon}(m,h) = h^{\varepsilon}(m) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}he_1.$

We aim to prove that for a fixed $(\theta, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{\delta}$, then $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$ is almost a static solution for (1.4) with vanishing applied field. First we prove properties concerning φ_{ε} defined in (1.9).

Lemma 2.1. For all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\varepsilon \frac{d^2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}}{dx^2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon} = \alpha_{\varepsilon} \qquad and \qquad \frac{d\varphi_{\varepsilon}}{dx} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon} + \beta_{\varepsilon}$$

where

• $\alpha_{\varepsilon} = \beta_{\varepsilon} = 0 \ on \] - \infty, -\frac{7\delta}{8} [\cup [-\frac{3\delta}{4}, \frac{3\delta}{4}] \cup]\frac{7\delta}{8}, +\infty[,$

•
$$\alpha_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \text{ and } \beta_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \text{ in } [-\frac{7\delta}{8}, -\frac{3\delta}{4}] \cup [\frac{3\delta}{4}, \frac{7\delta}{8}].$$

Proof. For $x \in]-\infty, -\frac{7\delta}{8}[$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = -\frac{\pi}{2}$, and for $x \in]\frac{7\delta}{8}, +\infty[$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{\pi}{2}$, so that the claimed equalities are straightforward. On the central zone $[-\frac{3\delta}{4}, \frac{3\delta}{4}]$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \arcsin \tanh(\frac{x}{\varepsilon})$ and direct calculations yield the claimed results.

On the right hand side transitional zone $\left[-\frac{7\delta}{8}, -\frac{3\delta}{4}\right]$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = -\frac{\pi}{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, and on the right hand side transitional zone $\left[\frac{3\delta}{4}, \frac{7\delta}{8}\right]$, $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{\pi}{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, so that α_{ε} and β_{ε} are of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ on these zones.

Proposition 2.1. For all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, we have

$$h^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)) = f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma) + \rho^{\theta,\sigma}_{\varepsilon},$$

where

•
$$f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sin^2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} - \varepsilon (\partial_x \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma})^2$$
,
• $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} = 0$ in the domains $\bigcup_{i=0}^{N} [\sigma_i + \frac{3\delta}{4}, \sigma_{i+1} - \frac{3\delta}{4}]$,
• $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} = -\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^i \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon} (x - \sigma_i) \\ \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon} (x - \sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \alpha_{\varepsilon} (x - \sigma_i)$ in the wall $[\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$

(see Lemma 2.1 for the definition of α_{ε}).

Proof. In the domain $[\sigma_i + \frac{3\delta}{4}, \sigma_{i+1} - \frac{3\delta}{4}], \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}(x) = (-1)^{i+1} \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = (-1)^{i+1} e_i$, so

$$h^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(-1)^{i+1}e_1$$
 and $f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$

so that $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} = 0$ in the domains. In the wall $[\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$, we have

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

thus by direct calculations,

$$\partial_{xx} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) = -\varphi_{\varepsilon}''(x - \sigma_i) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^i \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$-(\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x - \sigma_i))^2 \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In addition, $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) \cdot e_1 = (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i)$ and

$$e_{1} = \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}} \left[(-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_{i}) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) + (-1)^{i} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_{i}) \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_{i}) \\ \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_{i}) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right].$$

Therefore,

$$h^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma))(x) = \left[\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\sin^{2}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i}) - \varepsilon(\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x-\sigma_{i}))^{2}\right]\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}(x)$$

where

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}(x) = -\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^i \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \left[\varepsilon \varphi_{\varepsilon}''(x-\sigma_i) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \right].$$

Using Lemma 2.1, we conclude the proof of Proposition 2.1.

We describe now the properties of the derivatives of $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$ with respect to θ_i and σ_i .

Proposition 2.2. For all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, we have

- 1. for all $x \in [0, L]$, $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = 0$,
- 2. for all $x \in [0, L]$, $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = 0$,
- 3. $\|\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} + \|\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \leq K$, where K does not depend on $\varepsilon > 0$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$,
- 4. $\langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$
- 5. $\left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$

Proof. For $x \in [0, L] \setminus [\sigma_i - \frac{7\delta}{8}, \sigma_i + \frac{7\delta}{8}]$, $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x)$ does not depend on θ_i and σ_i , so that

$$\forall x \in [0, L] \setminus [\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta], \quad \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = 0.$$
(2.2)

For $x \in [\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$,

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.3)$$

 \mathbf{so}

$$\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathbf{R}'_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\mathbf{R}'_{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -\sin\theta & -\cos\theta\\ 0 & \cos\theta & -\sin\theta \end{pmatrix}.$$

We remark that

$$\mathbf{R}_{\theta}' = \mathbf{R}_{\theta} \mathbf{R}_{-\theta} \mathbf{R}_{\theta}' = \mathbf{R}_{\theta} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(0, \cdot) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_{i}) \mathbf{p}_{\varepsilon} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
(2)

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \frac{\cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i)}{\varepsilon} \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.4)

On the other hand,

$$\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x - \sigma_i) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^i \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x - \sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.5)

The point wise orthogonality conditions 1 and 2 are direct consequences of (2.3), (2.4) and (2.5). Concerning the L^1 estimate, we have:

$$\|\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} = \int_{-\delta}^{\delta} \varphi_{\varepsilon}' = \pi.$$

From Lemma 2.1 and Equation (2.4), we have:

$$\|\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} = \|\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) = \pi + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

In addition, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle &= \int_{\sigma_i - \delta}^{\sigma_i + \delta} |\varphi_{\varepsilon}'|^2 dx \\ &= \int_{\sigma_i - \delta/2}^{\sigma_i + \delta/2} |\varphi_{\varepsilon}'|^2 dx + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \\ &= \int_{\sigma_i - \delta/2}^{\sigma_i + \delta/2} \frac{dx}{|\varepsilon \cosh \frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}|^2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{-\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}}^{\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}} \frac{dy}{\cosh^2 y} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \\ &= \frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}). \end{split}$$

The same holds for $\langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$.

Remark 2.1. It is clear that for $i \neq j$, then $\langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$. In addition $\langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$ for all (i, j).

2.2 Inversion Theorem for the new coordinates

We aim to use the coordinates (θ, σ, w) in a neighborhood of the manifold $\mathcal{M}_{2\delta}^{\varepsilon}$. For $u \in L^{\infty}([0, L]; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $v = (\theta, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{\delta}$, we define $\mathcal{F}(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ by

$$\mathcal{F}(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} \left\langle u | \partial_{\theta_1} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \right\rangle \\ \cdot \\ \left\langle u | \partial_{\theta_N} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \right\rangle \\ \left\langle u | \partial_{\sigma_1} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \right\rangle \\ \cdot \\ \left\langle u | \partial_{\sigma_N} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \right\rangle \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we can write $m = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$, taking the L^2 inner product with $\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$ and with $\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)$, by the orthogonality conditions on w, and with 1. in Proposition 2.2, we obtain that:

$$\mathcal{F}(m,(\theta,\sigma))=0.$$

We aim to prove the following lemma.

Lemma 2.2. There exists $\nu_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in [0, \delta]$, for all $(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma}) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{2\delta}$, for all $u \in L^{\infty}([0, L])$, if $||u - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})||_{L^{\infty}} \leq \nu_0$ then there exists one and only one pair $(\theta, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{\delta}$ in a neighborhood of $(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$ such that

$$\mathcal{F}(u,(\theta,\sigma))=0.$$

Proof. As a classical inversion theorem, the proof is based on a fixed point theorem. We must check that the size of the neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}_{2\delta}^{\varepsilon}$ can be chosen independently of $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.

We have $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma), (\theta, \sigma)) = 0.$

In addition, from (2.2), (2.4) and (2.5), we obtain that:

- if $i \neq j$, $\partial_{\sigma_i \sigma_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \partial_{\sigma_i \theta_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \partial_{\theta_i \theta_j} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$,
- on $[0, L] \setminus [\sigma_i \delta, \sigma_i + \delta], \ \partial_{\sigma_i \sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \partial_{\sigma_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \partial_{\theta_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0,$
- for $x \in [\sigma_i \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$,

$$\partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = -\varphi_{\varepsilon}''(x-\sigma_{i})\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i}\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\0 \end{pmatrix} + (\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x-\sigma_{i}))^{2}\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\-\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.6)
$$= -(\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x-\sigma_{i}))^{2}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) + \frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) - \beta_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\-\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\end{pmatrix}, \\ \partial_{\sigma_{i}\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = -\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x-\sigma_{i})\frac{\sin(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i}))}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= -\frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) - \beta_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\partial_{\theta_{i}\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = \frac{\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon^{2}}\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix}0\\-1\\0\end{pmatrix}$$

$$= -\frac{\cos^{2}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon^{2}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) - \frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x)$$

$$+\frac{\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon}\beta_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix}0\\-1\\0\end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.7)

Therefore, for $x \in [\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$,

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = -(\varphi_{\varepsilon}'(x-\sigma_{i}))^{2}$$
$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = 0$$
$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) \cdot \partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = -\frac{\cos^{2}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})}{\varepsilon^{2}}$$

so that, using Proposition 2.1, we obtain that

$$\partial_{v}\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma),(\theta,\sigma)) = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \begin{pmatrix} -I_{N} & 0_{N} \\ 0_{N} & I_{N} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$
(2.8)

We define $\mathcal{G}: L^{\infty}([0,L]) \times I\!\!R^N \times \Sigma_{\delta} \to I\!\!R^{2N}$ by

$$\mathcal{G}(u,v) = v - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -I_N & 0_N \\ 0_N & I_N \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{F}(u,v).$$

We aim to prove that there exists $\nu_0 > 0$ independent of ε such that for $(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$ fixed in $\mathbb{R}^N \times \Sigma_{2\delta}$, for $u \in L^{\infty}([0, L])$, if $\|\underline{u} - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \nu_0$, then $v \mapsto \mathcal{G}(u, v)$ admits one and only one fixed point in a neighborhood of $(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$.

We have:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}(u, v_2) - \mathcal{G}(u, v_1) &= v_2 - v_1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -I_N & 0_N \\ 0_N & I_N \end{pmatrix} \int_0^1 \partial_v \mathcal{F}(u, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1))(v_2 - v_1) ds \\ &= -\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -I_N & 0_N \\ 0_N & I_N \end{pmatrix} \int_0^1 (\partial_v \mathcal{F}(u, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1)) - \partial_v \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, \bar{v})) (v_2 - v_1) ds \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(v_2 - v_1) \end{aligned}$$

where $\bar{v} = (\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$ and $\bar{u} = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\bar{v})$, using (2.8). We have now:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_v \mathcal{F}(u, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1)) - \partial_v \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \right| &\leq \left| \partial_v \mathcal{F}(u, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1)) - \partial_v \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1)) \right| \\ &+ \left| \partial_v \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, v_1 + s(v_2 - v_1)) - \partial_v \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

On the one hand,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_{v} \mathcal{F}(u, v_{1} + s(v_{2} - v_{1})) - \partial_{v} \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, v_{1} + s(v_{2} - v_{1})) \right| &\leq \\ K \|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} \max_{i} \left(\|\partial_{\theta_{i}\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{\theta_{i}\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon} \|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand,

$$\left| \partial_{v} \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, v_{1} + s(v_{2} - v_{1})) - \partial_{v} \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \right| \leq \max_{v \in [\bar{v}, v_{1} + s(v_{2} - v_{1})]} \left| \partial_{vv} \mathcal{F}(\bar{u}, v) \right| \left| v_{1} + s(v_{2} - v_{1}) - \bar{v} \right|.$$

The second derivative of \mathcal{F} can be estimated as follows:

$$\left|\partial_{vv}\mathcal{F}(\bar{u},v)\right| \leq K \max_{i} \left(\|\partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} + \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i}\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} + \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}\theta_{i}\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} + \|\partial_{\theta_{i}\theta_{i}\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} \right).$$

We have

•
$$\partial_{\theta_i \theta_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$$
 so
 $\|\partial_{\theta_i \theta_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^2},$
• $\partial_{\sigma_i \theta_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = (-1)^{i+1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{\varepsilon} \left(-\frac{\cos^2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + (-1)^i \frac{\sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{\varepsilon} \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \right),$ so
 $\|\partial_{\sigma_i \theta_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^2},$

•
$$\partial_{\sigma_i \sigma_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$$
 so

$$\|\partial_{\sigma_i\sigma_i\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \le \frac{K}{\varepsilon^2},$$

•
$$\partial_{\sigma_i \sigma_i \theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{3}{\varepsilon^2} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \frac{\sin^2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{\varepsilon^2} \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \sin \theta_{\varepsilon}$$

 $\|\partial_{\sigma_i \sigma_i \sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^2}.$

 So

$$\left|\partial_{v}\mathcal{F}(\bar{u},v_{1}+s(v_{2}-v_{1}))-\partial_{v}\mathcal{F}(\bar{u},\bar{v})\right| \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^{2}}(|v_{1}-\bar{v}|+|v_{2}-\bar{v}|).$$

Therefore, there exists K independent of $u,\,\bar{u},\,v_1,\,v_2$ and \bar{v} such that

$$\left|\mathcal{G}(u,v_1) - \mathcal{G}(u,v_2)\right| \le K\left(\|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}|v_1 - \bar{v}| + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}|v_2 - \bar{v}|\right)|v_2 - v_1|.$$

$$(2.9)$$

In addition,

$$\left|\mathcal{G}(u,v) - \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},\bar{v})\right| \le \left|\mathcal{G}(u,v) - \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},v)\right| + \left|\mathcal{G}(\bar{u},v) - \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},\bar{v})\right|.$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathcal{G}(u,v) - \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},v) \right| &\leq K\varepsilon \left| \mathcal{F}(u,v) - \mathcal{F}(\bar{u},v) \right| \\ &\leq K\varepsilon \|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} \max_{i} (\|\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} + \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}}) \\ &\leq K\|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}}\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

$$\bullet \left| \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},v) - \mathcal{G}(\bar{u},\bar{v}) \right| &\leq K \left(\|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}|v - \bar{v}| \right) |v - \bar{v}|. \end{aligned}$$

So we have obtained that there exists a universal constant K such that:

$$|\mathcal{G}(u,v) - \bar{v}| \le K\varepsilon ||u - \bar{u}||_{L^{\infty}} + K\left(||u - \bar{u}||_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}|v - \bar{v}|\right)|v - \bar{v}|$$

and

$$|\mathcal{G}(u, v_1) - \mathcal{G}(u, v_2)| \le K \left(\|u - \bar{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} |v_1 - \bar{v}| + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} |v_2 - \bar{v}| \right) |v_2 - v_1|.$$

We fix $\alpha_1 > 0$ and $\alpha_2 > 0$ such that $K(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \leq \frac{1}{4}$, $K\alpha_2 \leq \frac{1}{4}$ and $K\alpha_1 \leq \frac{\alpha_2}{2}$.

If $||u - \bar{u}||_{L^{\infty}} \leq \alpha_1$, if $|v - \bar{v}| \leq \alpha_2 \varepsilon$, then

$$|\mathcal{G}(u,v) - \bar{u}| \le K\varepsilon\alpha_1 + K(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)|v - \bar{v}| \le \frac{3}{4}\alpha_2\varepsilon,$$

so $v \mapsto \mathcal{G}(u, v)$ maps $B(\bar{v}, \alpha_2 \varepsilon)$ into itself.

In addition, $K(\alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2) \leq \frac{1}{2}$ so this map is contracting, so the fixed point exists and is unique. Taking $\nu_0 = \alpha_1$ we conclude the proof of Lemma 2.2.

Proof of Proposition 1.1.

Let $m \in H^1([0,L]; S^2)$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(m, \mathcal{M}_{2\delta}^{\varepsilon}) \leq \nu_0$. So there exists $\bar{v} = (\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$ such that $||m - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})||_{L^{\infty}([0,L])} \leq \nu_0$.

From Lemma 2.2, we find $v = (\theta, \sigma) \in B(\bar{v}, \alpha_2 \varepsilon)$ such that $\mathcal{F}(m, v) = 0$. We define w by $w = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) \times m)$ so that we have by construction:

$$m = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$$

with $m \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(v) = 0$, and $\mathcal{F}(m, v) = \mathcal{F}(w, v) = 0$. In addition, w has the same regularity as m. This concludes the proof of Proposition 1.1.

3 Meta-stability for a piecewise constant applied field

We remark that Theorem 1.1 is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3 so that we only discuss this last theorem. In Section 3.1, we give an overview of the proof of Theorem 1.3. We detail the technical parts in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, and in Section 4 for the longest calculations.

3.1 Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.3

We consider h and $(\theta^{ref}, \sigma^{ref})$ satisfying (1.11)-(1.12)-(1.14), and we denote by h_i the value of the magnetic applied field in the wall i:

$$\forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \ \forall t, \ h_i(t) = h(t, \sigma_i^{ref}(t)).$$

$$(3.10)$$

The proof of Theorem 1.3 is divided into the following five steps.

First step: equivalent system in the new coordinates

While the solution m(t, x) with initial data $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\bar{\theta}, \bar{\sigma})$ remains in a neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$, using Proposition 1.1, we write it on the form:

$$m(t,x) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t),\sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t),\sigma(t)), \qquad (3.11)$$

where $\theta \in \mathcal{C}^1(0,T;\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\sigma \in \mathcal{C}^1(0,T;\Sigma_{\delta})$ and for all $t, w(t) \in \mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta(t),\sigma(t)}$.

By plugging (3.11) in the Landau-Lifschitz system (1.4), by taking the inner product with $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$, we prove the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1. While $m = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t))$ satisfies $|\sigma(t) - \sigma^{\text{ref}}(t)| \leq \delta$, then m satisfies the Landau-Lifschitz equation (1.4) if and only if $(\theta(t), \sigma(t), w(t))$ satisfies the following system (3.12)-(3.13)-(3.14):

$$\frac{d\theta_i}{dt} = h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w), \qquad (3.12)$$

$$\frac{d\sigma_i}{dt} = (-1)^i h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w),$$
(3.13)

$$\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = a_{\varepsilon} + \Lambda_{\varepsilon} w + P_{\varepsilon} w + l^{\varepsilon} w + G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma), \qquad (3.14)$$

where

- $a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathbb{R}, \ a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathbb{R}, \ l_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}) \ and \ l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}) \ are \ of \ order \ \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$
- $a_{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathbb{R}$ and $l^{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^+ \times [0, L] \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}_{\theta, \sigma}^{\varepsilon}; \mathbb{R}^3)$ are of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$,
- h_i is defined by (3.10),
- the linear parts $\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)$ and $\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)$ are given by

$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) = \left\langle \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \right\rangle = \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \cdot \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$

$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) = \left\langle \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \right\rangle = \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \cdot \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$
(3.15)

and satisfy that there exists a constant K such that

$$|\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)| + |\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)| \le K ||w||_{\varepsilon},$$
(3.16)

• the linear operator Λ_{ε} is given by:

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon} w = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)),$$

with

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) = -h^{\varepsilon}(w) + f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w = -\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_1e_1 + f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w, \qquad (3.17)$$

• the linear perturbation due to the applied magnetic field writes

$$P_{\varepsilon}w = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}w_1\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$

• the non linear term $G^{\varepsilon}(w, \theta, \sigma)$ satisfies

$$\|G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)\|_{L^{2}} \leq K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \left(\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|w\|_{L^{2}}\right),$$

• the non linear terms $G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$ and $G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$ can be estimated as follows:

$$|G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w)| + |G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w)| \le K ||w||_{\varepsilon}^2.$$
(3.18)

In the previous estimates, the constant K does not depend on $\varepsilon > 0$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$ and $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$.

The proof of this proposition is very technical. For the convenience of the reader, we postpone it in Section 4.

We aim to estimate the solution (θ, σ, w) of System (3.12)-(3.13)-(3.14). We will prove that the linear part of (3.14) is coercive, so that we will obtain that while $|\sigma(t) - \sigma^{ref}(t)| \leq \delta$ (that implies both that $\sigma(t)$ remains in Σ_{δ} and that h is constant in each wall), then w remains small. To conclude, we will observe that since w remains small, the system for θ_i and σ_i is a small perturbation of System (1.12) concerning $(\theta_i^{ref}, \sigma_i^{ref})$, so that (θ, σ) remains close to $(\sigma^{ref}, \theta^{ref})$.

Second step: study of Λ_{ε} .

As said before, the key point of our analysis is that the linear part of (3.14) is coercive. The coercivity of Λ_{ε} is deduced from the following proposition concerning the operator $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}$.

Proposition 3.2. There exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, there exist c_1 and c_2 such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ and $w \in \mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$, the following estimates hold:

$$\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$c_1 \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2} \le \|\varepsilon \partial_{xx} w\|_{L^2} + \|\partial_x w\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^2} \le c_2 \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}$$
$$c_1 \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \le \sqrt{\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle} \le c_2 \|w\|_{\varepsilon}.$$

We recall the the constant $\tau > 0$ appears in Assumption (1.11) concerning the applied field h. The proof of this proposition is postponed in subsection 3.2.

Third step: variational estimates for w.

We take the inner product of (3.14) with $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)$. Using (3.17), we remark that we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\big\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\big\rangle = \big\langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\big\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\big\langle \frac{df_{\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon}}{dt}w|w\big\rangle.$$

In addition,

$$\frac{df_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt},$$

so we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle + \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \langle a_{\varepsilon}|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \langle P_{\varepsilon}w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \langle l^{\varepsilon}w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle \\
+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt}\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}}f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w|w\rangle + \langle G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle.$$

Using (3.13) we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle + \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq M_{1} + M_{2} + M_{3},$$

where

•
$$M_1 = \langle a_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle,$$

• $M_2 = \langle P_{\varepsilon} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left((-1)^i h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} \right) \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \rangle + \langle l^{\varepsilon} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle,$
• $M_3 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(-h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \right) \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \rangle + \langle G^{\varepsilon}(w, \theta, \sigma) | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle.$

Since by Proposition 3.2, $\|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2} \leq C \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}$, we obtain by the Young Lemma that:

$$M_1 \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2 + C\varepsilon \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$

The term M_2 coming from the linear terms induced by the applied magnetic field h, is estimated in the following proposition, proved in Section 3.3:

Proposition 3.3. While $\sigma(t)$ remains in Σ_{δ} , then

$$|M_2| \le \left(\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})) \right) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2$$

Concerning the non linear part M_3 , we remark that using Proposition 4.10 and Corollary 3.2, we obtain that

$$\left|\left\langle G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}w\right\rangle\right| \leq K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

In addition, using the estimates in Proposition 3.1, since $\|\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{c}{\varepsilon^2}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left(-h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \right) \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \right\rangle \right| &\leq C \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\leq C \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2 \end{aligned}$$

using Proposition 3.2.

So we obtain that for ε small enough, while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , then

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle + \| \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \| a_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \left(\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + C\varepsilon + \| h \|_{L^{\infty}} (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})) + C \| w \|_{\varepsilon} \right),$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \| a_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \left(1 - 2\tau + K \sqrt{\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle} \right),$$
(3.19)

using Assumption (1.11) on the applied field, and by the last inequality in Proposition 3.2.

Fourth step: comparison lemma for w.

Equation (3.19) yields that for ε small enough, while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , then

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle + \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\times\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\left(2\tau - K\sqrt{\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle}\right) \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2},$$

so while $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle \leq \left(\frac{\tau}{K}\right)^2$, we have:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle + \tau \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Using the first estimate claimed in Proposition 3.2, we obtain then that while $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle \leq \left(\frac{\tau}{K}\right)^2$, we have:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle + \frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

We remark that $a_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ so there exists a constant c such that

$$\forall t, \ \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2 \le c^2 e^{-\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}} \tau (1-\tau),$$

so that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle \leq \left(\frac{\tau}{K}\right)^2$,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle + \frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle \leq c^{2}\tau(1-\tau)e^{-\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}}.$$

By comparison argument, we obtain finally that for ε small enough, while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle \leq \left(\frac{\tau}{K}\right)^2$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle(t) &\leq \quad \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w_{0})|w_{0}\right\rangle e^{-2\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}t} + c^{2}\varepsilon e^{-\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}} \\ &\leq \quad c_{2}^{2}\|w_{0}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2}e^{-2\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}t} + c^{2}\varepsilon e^{-\frac{\delta}{2\varepsilon}}, \end{aligned}$$

that is, taking the square root:

$$\sqrt{\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle(t)} \le c_2 \| w_0 \|_{\varepsilon} e^{-\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}t} + c\sqrt{\varepsilon} e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}.$$
(3.20)

We fix $\nu_0 > 0$. There exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$,

$$c\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}} \le \inf\left\{\frac{\nu_0}{c_1}, \frac{1}{4}\frac{\tau}{K}\right\}$$
(3.21)

(we recall that the constants c_1 and c_2 appear in the norm equivalence inequality in Proposition 3.2).

We fix $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that

$$\frac{\alpha_0}{c_2} \le \inf\left\{\frac{\nu_0}{c_1}, \frac{1}{4}\frac{\tau}{K}\right\}.$$

Then for all $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, if $||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \le \alpha_0$, then by Inequality (3.21), we obtain that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle(t)$ cannot become greater than the bound $\left(\frac{\tau}{K}\right)^2$ so that (3.20) remains valid, and in particular, using Proposition 3.2,

$$\|w(t)\|_{\varepsilon} \le \nu_0.$$

To summarize, we have prove that if $\nu_0 > 0$ is fixed, there exists ε_0 and α_0 such that for all ε such that $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, if $||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \le \alpha_0$, then while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , we have

$$\|w(t)\|_{\varepsilon} \le \nu_0 \text{ and } \|w(t)\|_{\varepsilon} \le \frac{c_2}{c_1} \|w_0\|_{\varepsilon} e^{-\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}t} + \frac{c}{c_1} \sqrt{\varepsilon} e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}.$$

Last step: estimates on θ and σ .

From (1.12) and (3.12)-(3.13), while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\theta_i - \theta_i^{ref}) = a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w),$$
$$\frac{d}{dt}(\sigma_i - \sigma_i^{ref}) = a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w).$$

So Using (3.16) and (3.18), using that $a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ and that $a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, we obtain that there exists a constant C such that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} ,

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}(\theta_i - \theta_i^{ref})\right| + \left|\frac{d}{dt}(\sigma_i - \sigma_i^{ref})\right| \le C\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}} + C\|w(t)\|_{\varepsilon}.$$
(3.22)

We assume now as in the previous step that $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ and $||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \le \alpha_0$. We obtain then that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} ,

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}(\theta_i - \theta_i^{ref})\right| + \left|\frac{d}{dt}(\sigma_i - \sigma_i^{ref})\right| \le C\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}} + C\frac{c_2}{c_1}\|w_0\|_{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{\varepsilon}t} + C\frac{c}{c_1}\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}},$$

which yields by integration that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} ,

$$\left|\theta_i(t) - \theta_i^{ref}(t)\right| \le \left|\theta_i(0) - \theta_i^{ref}(0)\right| + C\frac{c_2}{c_1}\frac{\varepsilon}{\tau(1-\tau)} \|w_0\|_{\varepsilon} + C(1+\frac{c}{c_1})\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}t,\tag{3.23}$$

$$\left|\sigma_{i}(t) - \sigma_{i}^{ref}(t)\right| \leq \left|\sigma_{i}(0) - \sigma_{i}^{ref}(0)\right| + C\frac{c_{2}}{c_{1}}\frac{\varepsilon}{\tau(1-\tau)}\|w_{0}\|_{\varepsilon} + C(1+\frac{c}{c_{1}})\sqrt{\varepsilon}e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}t.$$
(3.24)

Let $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ such that $\varepsilon_1 \le \varepsilon_0$ and satisfying $C(1 + \frac{c}{c_1})\sqrt{\varepsilon_1} \le \inf\left\{\frac{\delta}{4}, \frac{\nu_0}{3}\right\}$. Let $\alpha_1 > 0$ such that $\alpha_1 \le \inf\left\{\alpha_0, \frac{\delta}{4}, \frac{\nu_0}{3}\right\}$ and such that $C\frac{c_2}{c_1}\frac{\varepsilon_1}{\tau(1-\tau)}\alpha_1 \le \inf\left\{\frac{\delta}{4}, \frac{\nu_0}{3}\right\}$. Let us assume that $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_1$ and that the initial data satisfy $||w_0||_{\varepsilon} \le \alpha_1$, $|\theta_i(0) - \theta_i^{ref}(0)| \le \alpha_1$ and $|\sigma_i(0) - \sigma_i^{ref}(0)| \le \alpha_1$.

Then from the last step, we know that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , then $||w(t)||_{\varepsilon} \leq \nu_0$.

In addition, from (3.23) and (3.24), we obtain that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $t \leq e^{\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}$, then $\left|\theta_{i}(t) - \theta_{i}^{ref}(t)\right| \leq \nu_{0}, \left|\sigma_{i}(t) - \sigma_{i}^{ref}(t)\right| \leq \nu_{0}$ and $\left|\sigma_{i}(t) - \sigma_{i}^{ref}(t)\right| \leq \frac{3\delta}{4}$, so that σ remains in Σ_{δ} , which implies that the previous estimates are valid in the whole time interval $[0, e^{\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}]$.

This concludes the proof of Theorem 1.3.

3.2 Coercivity of the operator $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}$

We aim to prove the following result:

Proposition 3.4. There exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all $w \in W^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$,

$$\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle \geq \frac{1-\tau}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Remark 3.1. The real $\tau > 0$ is given a priori by the bound on the applied field h in Assumption (1.13).

On the one hand, for a configuration without any wall, *i.e.* with only one domain, this inequality is straightforward. Indeed, in this case, $\mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$ reduces to the set:

$$\{w \in H^2([-L,L]; \mathbb{R}^3), w_1 = 0\},\$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) = -\varepsilon \partial_{xx} w + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} w,$$

thus

$$\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

On the other hand, for a configuration of one wall in an infinite wire, the coercivity is obtained in [14] by describing this operator in a moving frame which takes into account that w(t,x) remains orthogonal to $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t), \sigma(t))(x)$.

We gather both coercivity properties, the first one in the domains, the second one in the walls, by using a localization argument called IMS formula (see [18] and the references therein). The key point of this formula is the use of a convenient system of cut-off functions.

Let us detail the previous points.

Proof of Proposition 3.4.

First Step: convenient system of cut off functions.

We assume that σ is fixed in Σ_{δ} . We introduce a system of cut off functions $\chi_0, \chi_1, \ldots, \chi_N$ such that

•
$$\chi_i \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}$$
,

- supp $\chi_0 \in [0, L] \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} [\sigma_i \delta/2, \sigma_i + \delta/2] (\chi_0 \text{ is localized in the domains}),$
- supp $\chi_i \subset [\sigma_i \frac{3\delta}{4}, \sigma_i + \frac{3\delta}{4}]$ for $i \neq 0$ (χ_i is localized in the i^{th} wall), (3.25)

•
$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (\chi_i)^2 = 1$$

We can assume that there exists a constant K_{δ} , only depending on δ but not on $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$ such that

$$\|\chi_0'\|_{L^{\infty}} + \ldots + \|\chi_N'\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\chi_0''\|_{L^{\infty}} + \ldots + \|\chi_N''\|_{L^{\infty}} \le K_{\delta}.$$
(3.26)

We remark that χ_0 and χ_i can be simultaneously non zero only in the zone $[\sigma_i - 3\delta/4, \sigma_i - \delta/2] \cup [\sigma_i + \delta/2, \sigma_i + 3\delta/4]$, *i.e.* in the transitional zones.

We have:

$$\langle \partial_x(\chi_j w) | \partial_x(\chi_j w) \rangle = - \langle \partial_x \left(\chi_j \partial_x w + (\partial_x \chi_j) w \right) | \chi_j w \rangle$$

= $- \langle 2 \partial_x \chi_j \partial_x w | \chi_j w \rangle - \langle \chi_j \partial_{xx} w | \chi_j w \rangle - \langle (\partial_{xx} \chi_j) w | \chi_j w \rangle.$

Therefore

$$-\langle \partial_{xx}w|(\chi_j)^2w\rangle = \langle \partial_x(\chi_jw)|\partial_x(\chi_jw)\rangle + \langle \partial_x(\chi_j^2)\partial_xw|w\rangle + \langle \partial_{xx}\chi_jw|\chi_jw\rangle.$$

We sum up these equalities for j = 0 to j = N. We remark that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{N} \partial_x(\chi_j^2) = \partial_x \sum_{j=0}^{N} (\chi_j^2) = 0,$$

so we obtain that:

$$-\sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \partial_{xx} w | (\chi_j)^2 w \right\rangle = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \partial_x (\chi_j w) | \partial_x (\chi_j w) \right\rangle + \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \partial_{xx} \chi_j w | \chi_j w \right\rangle.$$

So,

$$\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{j}w)|\chi_{j}w\right\rangle + \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \partial_{xx}\chi_{j}w|\chi_{j}w\right\rangle.$$
(3.27)

Using the bounds (3.26) on the cut off functions, we estimate the right hand side term as follows:

$$\left| \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left\langle \partial_{xx} \chi_{j} w | \chi_{j} w \right\rangle \right| \le K \varepsilon \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \qquad (3.28)$$

where the constant K only depends on δ .

Second Step: coercivity in the domains.

The estimate in the domains is given by the following lemma:

Lemma 3.1. There exists ε_0 only depending on δ such that for all $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, if χ_0 satisfies (3.25), then

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbb{R}^N, \forall w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}, \ \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_0 w) | \chi_0 w \right\rangle \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \| \chi_0 w \|_{L^2}^2 - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \| w \|_{L^2}^2$$

Proof. On the support of χ_0 , we have

$$f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

In addition, on $[\sigma_i + \frac{\delta}{2}, \sigma_{i+1} - \frac{\delta}{2}]$, $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(x) = (-1)^i e_1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, so $0 = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(x) \cdot w(x) = (-1)^i w_1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \cdot w$, that is

$$\|\chi_0 w_1\|_{L^2} \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\|\chi_0 w\|_{L^2}.$$

So,

$$\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{0}w)|\chi_{0}w\right\rangle = \varepsilon \|\partial_{x}(\chi_{0}w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|\chi_{0}w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\|\chi_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2},$$

hence we obtain the claimed estimate.

Third Step: coercivity for one wall.

The estimate in the walls is given by the following lemma:

Lemma 3.2. There exists ε_0 only depending on δ such that for all $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, for χ_j satisfying (3.25), then

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbb{R}^N, \forall w \in \mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}, \ \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_j w) | \chi_j w \right\rangle \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \| \chi_j w \|_{L^2}^2 - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \| w \|_{L^2}^2$$

Proof. In the wall i, that is in the zone $[\sigma_i - \frac{3\delta}{4}, \sigma_i + \frac{3\delta}{4}]$, we recall that

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = (-1)^{i+1} \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_0(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}),$$

so that:

$$\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{\varepsilon \cosh \frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}),$$

$$\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma)(x) = \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{\varepsilon \cosh \frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_2,$$

where

$$M_0(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \tanh z \\ 1/\cosh z \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_1(z) = \begin{pmatrix} -1/\cosh z \\ \tanh z \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using that $\chi_i w \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$, we describe $\chi_i w$ as:

$$(\chi_i w)(x) = r_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + r_2(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_2$$
(3.29)

where $r = (r_1, r_2) \in H^2(\mathbb{R})$ is compactly supported in $\left[-\frac{3\delta}{4\varepsilon}, \frac{3\delta}{4\varepsilon}\right]$. From the condition $\langle w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$, we deduce that $\langle \chi_i w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \langle (\chi_i - 1) w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$, so

$$|\langle \chi_i w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle| \le ||w||_{L^2} ||(\chi_i - 1) \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^2} \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) ||w||_{L^2}$$

since $\chi_i - 1 = 0$ in $[\sigma_i - \frac{\delta}{2}, \sigma_i + \frac{\delta}{2}]$ and since $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ is exponentially small outside this interval. Now, using (3.29),

$$\left\langle \chi_i w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = (-1)^{i+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} r_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \frac{1}{\varepsilon \cosh \frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}} r_1(z) \frac{1}{\cosh z} dz = \left\langle r_1 | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}},$$

where we denote by $\langle . | . \rangle_{I\!\!R}$ the L^2 inner product on $I\!\!R$. So,

$$\langle r_1 | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) ||w||_{L^2}.$$
 (3.30)

In the same way we prove that

$$\langle r_2 | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) ||w||_{L^2}.$$
 (3.31)

By a tedious calculation using Subsection 2.1, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi w) = \left(-\frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_z r_1(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \frac{1}{\cosh \frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}} - \frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \frac{\sinh \frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}}{\cosh^2 \frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}} r_1(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \right) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_0(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + \left(-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \partial_{zz} r_1(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) r_1(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \right) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_1(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + \left(-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \partial_{zz} r_2(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) r_2(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \right) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_2,$$

$$(3.32)$$

where $f(z) = 2 \tanh^2 z - 1$. Therefore,

$$\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{i}w)|\chi_{i}w\right\rangle = \left\langle \mathcal{L}r_{1}|r_{1}\right\rangle_{I\!\!R} + \left\langle \mathcal{L}r_{2}|r_{2}\right\rangle_{I\!\!R}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}r_j = -\partial_{zz}r_j + f(z)r_j.$$

We recall the properties of the operator \mathcal{L} (see [9] and [14]):

Proposition 3.5. The operator \mathcal{L} with domain $H^2(\mathbb{R})$ is self-adjoint and positive, 0 in a simple eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} associated to the eigenvector $\frac{1}{\cosh x}$. In the orthogonal of its Kernel, \mathcal{L} satisfies:

$$if \left\langle u | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}} = 0, \quad \left\langle \mathcal{L}u | u \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}} \ge \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2}, \tag{3.33}$$

and

$$if \left\langle u | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}} = 0, \quad \|r\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} \le \|\ell(r)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} \le \|\mathcal{L}(r)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}, \tag{3.34}$$

where ℓ is given by $\ell = \partial_x + \tanh x$ and where we denote by $\|\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}$ the $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ usual norm.

Proof. Since $\mathcal{L} = \ell^* \circ \ell$ with $\ell = \partial_x + \tanh x$, \mathcal{L} is a positive self-adjoint operator.

In addition, by a simple calculation, 0 in a simple eigenvalue of \mathcal{L} associated to the eigenvector $\frac{1}{\cosh x}$. By standard results, the essential spectrum of \mathcal{L} is $[1, +\infty[$.

We remark now that $\ell \circ \ell^* = -\partial_{xx} + 1$, so \mathcal{L} does not have anymore eigenvalue since $\mathcal{L}r = \lambda r$ induces that $\ell \circ \mathcal{L}r = \lambda \ell r$, so since $\mathcal{L} = \ell^* \circ \ell$, we obtain that $(-\partial_{xx} + 1)\ell r = \lambda \ell r$ wich implies that $\ell r = 0$ since $-\partial_{xx} + 1$ does not have eigenvalues.

So, on $\left(\frac{1}{\cosh x}\right)^{\perp}$, $\mathcal{L} \geq 1$ and the inequalities in (3.34) and in (3.33) follow.

We project r_1 on $(\frac{1}{\cosh z})^{\perp}$ writing $r_1 = \bar{r}_1 + r_1^{\perp}$, with $r_1^{\perp} = \frac{1}{2} \langle r_1 | \frac{1}{\cosh z} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\cosh z}$ (we recall that $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\cosh^2 z} = 2$). Since $\mathcal{L}r_1 = \mathcal{L}\bar{r}_1$, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\langle \mathcal{L}r_{1}|r_{1}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}} &= \left\langle \mathcal{L}\bar{r}_{1}|\bar{r}_{1}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}} \\ &\geq \|\bar{r}_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \\ &\geq \|r_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} - \|r_{1}^{\perp}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \\ &\geq \|r_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}\|^{2} - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \text{ from (3.31).} \end{aligned}$$

In the same way we prove that

$$\langle \mathcal{L}r_2 | r_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}\!R} \ge \| r_2 \|_{L^2(\mathbb{I}\!R)}^2 - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \| w \|_{L^2}^2.$$

Therefore,

$$\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{i}w)|\chi_{i}w\rangle \geq ||r_{1}||^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} + ||r_{2}||^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})||w||^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}$$

and since by rescaling,

$$\|r_1\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2 + \|r_2\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2 = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|\chi_i w\|_{L^2}^2,$$

we conclude the proof of Lemma 3.2.

Last step: end of the proof of Proposition 3.4.

We first remark that, from (3.25),

$$\|w\|_{L^2}^2 = \sum_{i=0}^N \|\chi_i w\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.35)

Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2 together with (3.27), (3.28) and (3.35) yield

$$\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 - K\varepsilon \|w\|_{L^2}^2$$

so, if ε is small enough,

$$\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | w \rangle \ge \frac{1-\tau}{\varepsilon} \| w \|_{L^2}^2$$

This concludes the proof of Proposition 3.4.

From this result, we first obtain that the norms $\|\cdot\|_{\varepsilon}$ and $\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\rangle^{\frac{1}{2}}$ are equivalent on $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\sigma}$:

Corollary 3.1. There exist c_1 and c_2 such that for all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$, then

$$c_1 \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \le \sqrt{\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) |w \rangle} \le c_2 \|w\|_{\varepsilon}$$

In addition, here exists K such that

$$||w||_{L^{\infty}} \leq K \left(\langle w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In addition we have the following estimates:

Corollary 3.2. There exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, there exists K such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ and $w \in W_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$, we have the following estimates:

$$\begin{split} \|w\|_{L^{2}} &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}, \\ \left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)|w\right\rangle &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \\ \|\varepsilon \partial_{xx} w\|_{L^{2}} &+ \|\partial_{x} w\|_{L^{2}} \leq K \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

Proof. We remark first that since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = 0$ and since $|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}| = 1$, then $w = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w)$ so

$$\left\langle w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle = -\left\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w) | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle = \left\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w | \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle$$

So, from Proposition 3.4, with Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &\leq \quad \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle \\ &\leq \quad \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle \\ &\leq \quad \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w\|_{L^{2}} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}} \end{split}$$

Now since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = 0$ and since $|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}| = 1$, then $|w| = |\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w|$, so $||\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w||_{L^2} = ||w||_{L^2}$ so

$$\|w\|_{L^2} \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\tau} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}.$$

From this estimate, we have:

$$\begin{split} \left. \begin{split} \left. w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle &= \left. \left\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w | \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle \\ &\leq \left. \| w \|_{L^{2}} \left\| \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \left. \frac{\varepsilon}{1 - \tau} \left\| \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \end{split} \end{split}$$

Furthermore, since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \partial_{xx} w) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{xx} w \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \partial_{xx} w$, derivating twice the equality $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = 0$ we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon \partial_{xx} w &= -\varepsilon (2\partial_x w \cdot \partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w \cdot \partial_{xx} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \varepsilon \partial_{xx} w) \\ &= \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(m) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} w_1 e_1 - f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon})) - \varepsilon (2\partial_x w \cdot \partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w \cdot \partial_{xx} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$

So, since $\|\partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon}$ and since $\|\partial_{xx} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^2}$, we obtain that

<

$$\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^2} \le K\|w \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2} + \frac{K}{\varepsilon}\|w\|_{L^2} + K\|\partial_xw\|_{L^2}.$$

By integration by parts,

$$\|\partial_{x}w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \|\frac{1}{\varepsilon}w\|_{L^{2}}\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^{2}},$$
(3.36)

so using the Young inequality,

$$\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^2} \le K \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2} + \frac{K}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^2}.$$

By absorbing $\|\varepsilon \partial_{xx} w\|_{L^2}$, by using the previous inequality, we obtain that there exists K such that

$$\|\varepsilon \partial_{xx} w\|_{L^2} \le K \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}.$$

This inequality together with (3.36) and with Sobolev inequalities yield estimates on $\|\partial_x w\|_{L^2}$ and $\|w\|_{L^{\infty}}$.

3.3 Estimate of the remainder linear contributions

In order to prove Proposition 3.3, we aim to estimate M_2 given by:

$$M_2 = \left\langle P_{\varepsilon} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left((-1)^i h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} \right) \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \right\rangle + \left\langle l^{\varepsilon} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle,$$

where

$$P_{\varepsilon}w = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}w_1\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}.$$

The term $a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$ is of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, and since $\|\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{c}{\varepsilon^2}$, using Proposition 3.2 we obtain:

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}} \langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \rangle \right| \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

As it is already remarked in Section 3.1,

$$\left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

and

$$\left\langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

Hence,

$$\langle P_{\varepsilon}w|\mathcal{H}_{e}w\rangle = P_{1} + P_{2} + P_{3} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

with

•
$$P_1 = \langle -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle,$$

• $P_2 = \langle -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w_1 \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle,$
• $P_3 = \langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\sin\varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle.$

First Step: estimate of P_1 and P_2 .

Concerning the first term:

$$P_1 = \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} w \times e_1 | \varepsilon \partial_{xx} w \right\rangle$$

since $w \times e_1$ is orthogonal to e_1 and to $f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w$. By integration by parts, we obtain that

$$P_1 = -\left\langle (\partial_x h)w \times e_1 | \partial_x w \right\rangle,$$

(the term $\langle h \partial_x w \times e_1 | \partial_x w \rangle$ vanishes) so

$$|P_1| \le \|\partial_x h\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^2} \|\partial_x w\|_{L^2} \le K\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.37)

The second term is estimated as follows:

$$P_{2} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w_{1}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) | w \rangle$$
$$= -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle w_{1}\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) | w \rangle - 2 \langle \partial_{x}w_{1}\partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \rangle - \langle \partial_{xx}w_{1}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \rangle$$
$$= -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle w_{1}\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) | w \rangle - 2 \langle \partial_{x}w_{1}\partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \rangle$$
since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = 0$.

In the domains, $\partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and in the wall $i, \partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = -\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$, so that

$$P_2 = 2\sum_{i=1}^N h_i \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \partial_x w_1 | w \rangle - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle w_1 \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) | w \rangle.$$

On the one hand, in the wall i,

$$\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = (-1)^i \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

hence

$$\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = (-1)^{i+1} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} e_1 \cdot w.$$

So,

$$\left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \partial_x w_1 | w \right\rangle = (-1)^{i+1} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma_i - \delta}^{\sigma_i + \delta} \partial_x w_1 w_1 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$$

as

$$\int_{\sigma_i-\delta}^{\sigma_i+\delta} \partial_x w_1 w_1 = \int_{\sigma_i-\delta}^{\sigma_i+\delta} \partial_x (w_1)^2 = 0,$$

since $w_1 = 0$ at the points $\sigma_i - \delta$ and $\sigma_i + \delta$. On the other hand, we know from Proposition 2.1 that

$$|| \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) || \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) ||_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Therefore, we obtain that

$$|P_2| \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.38)

Second Step: IMS formula.

It remains to estimate

$$I := P_3 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^i h_i \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \rangle.$$

We use once again the IMS formula. We introduce the system of cut off functions χ_0, \ldots, χ_N satisfying (3.25) used for the proof of Proposition 3.4. On the one hand we have:

$$I = -\left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^{i} h_{i} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \right\rangle.$$

Now, we remark that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle &= -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | \chi_{i} \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{i} w) \right\rangle \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | \varepsilon \partial_{xx}(\chi_{i} w) - \varepsilon \chi_{i} \partial_{xx} w \right\rangle \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{i} w) \right\rangle \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle h \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | 2 \partial_{x} \chi_{i} \partial_{x} w + \partial_{xx} \chi_{i} w \right\rangle \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_{i} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{i} w) \right\rangle - \left\langle h \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} (\sum_{i=0}^{N} (\partial_{x} \chi_{i})^{2}) w | w \right\rangle \end{split}$$

by differentiating the relation $\sum_{i=0}^{N} (\chi_i)^2 = 1$. On the other hand, we have

$$\left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | w \right\rangle = \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} \chi_i w | \chi_i w \right\rangle + \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} \chi_0 w | \chi_0 w \right\rangle$$

since the support of $\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}$ is contained in $[\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$. Therefore

$$I = I_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{N} I_{1,i} + I_2,$$

with

•
$$I_0 = -\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_0 w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_0 w) \rangle,$$

• $I_{1,i} = -\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_i w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_i w) \rangle + (-1)^i \frac{h_i}{2} \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_i w | \chi_i w \rangle,$
• $I_2 = -\langle h \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} (\sum_{i=0}^N (\partial_x \chi_i)^2) w | w \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^N (-1)^i h_i \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_0 w | \chi_0 w \rangle.$

Third Step: Estimate in the domains

Concerning I_0 , we have:

$$|I_0| \leq \frac{\|h\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \chi_0 w\|_{L^2} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_0 w)\|_{L^2}$$

(since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times w) = -w$). Now on the support of χ_0 , $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \pm e_1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, and $f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$. We denote by $\mathbf{v} = \chi_0 w$. From the relation $w \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$, we deduce that:

$$0 = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \pm \mathbf{v}_1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{o}{4\varepsilon}}) \cdot \mathbf{v},$$

 \mathbf{so}

$$|\mathbf{v}_1| \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})|\mathbf{v}|.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathbf{v} | \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{v}) \right\rangle &= \left\langle \mathbf{v} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{v}) \right\rangle \\ &= \varepsilon \int_{[0,L]} |\partial_x \mathbf{v}|^2 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{[0,L]} |v_1|^2 + \int [0,L] f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} |v|^2 \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \| \mathbf{v} \|_{L^2}^2 - \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \| v \|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

So, with the Cauchy Schwartz inequality, we obtain that:

$$\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \chi_0 w\|_{L^2} \le (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}))\varepsilon \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_0 w)\|_{L^2}$$

Hence

$$|I_0| \le (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})) ||h||_{L^{\infty}} ||\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)||_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.39)

Fourth Step: Estimate in the walls

Concerning $I_{1,i}$, on the support of χ_i , h is constant (by assumption (1.14)), \mathbf{m}_{ε} writes:

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(x) = (-1)^{i+1} \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_0(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}).$$

In addition, in this zone,

We use the same decomposition of $\chi_i w$ as in (3.29):

$$(\chi_i w)(x) = r_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_1(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) + r_2(\frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}) \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} M_2.$$

As in Section 3.2, we obtain by (3.32) that in these new coordinates,

$$\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_{j}w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\|\mathcal{L}r_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\mathcal{L}r_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right).$$

In addition, using the previous remarks and setting $z = \frac{x - \sigma_i}{\varepsilon}$ in the integrals, we obtain

$$I_{1,i} = h_i \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \partial_z fr \cdot r dz + h_i \frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{L}r \cdot r \tanh z dz.$$

We remark that

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \partial_z fr \cdot r dz = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} fr \cdot \partial_z r dz = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{L}r \cdot \partial_z r dz$$

since, the support of r being compact, $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \partial_{zz} r \cdot \partial_z r = 0$, therefore we obtain:

$$I_{1,i} = h_i \frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{I}\!R} \mathcal{L}r \cdot lr \, dr,$$

with $l = \partial_z + \tanh z$. We recall that from Proposition 3.5, we have:

for
$$r \in (\frac{1}{\cosh z})^{\perp}$$
, $||l(r)||_{L^2} \le ||\mathcal{L}r||_{L^2}$.

So

$$|I_{1,i}| \le |h_i| \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|\mathcal{L}r\|_{L^2}^2,$$

that is

$$|I_{1,i}| \le \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_i w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.40)

Fifth Step: end of the proof.

The last term I_2 is small. Indeed, on the support of χ_0 , $|\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}| \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, so

$$I_{2}| \leq c \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq c\varepsilon^{2} \|w \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$
(3.41)

with Proposition 3.4.

The last remaining term to estimate is $\langle l^{\varepsilon}w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle$. Since $l^{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, we obtain that

$$\left|\left\langle l^{\varepsilon}w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\right\rangle\right| \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\|w \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(3.42)

So adding up the previous estimates (3.37), (3.38), (3.39), (3.40), (3.41) and (3.42), we obtain that

$$|I| \le (1 + c\varepsilon^2) ||h||_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{i=0}^N ||\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)||_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.43)

We observe that

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_i w) = \chi_i \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) + \tau_i,$$

with $\tau_i = -\varepsilon (2\partial_x \chi_i \partial_x w + \partial_{xx} \chi_i w)$. This term is small since:

$$\|\tau_i\|_{L^2} \le c\varepsilon \|\chi_i\|_{L^\infty} \|\partial_x w\|_{L^2} + c\varepsilon \|\partial_{xx}\chi_i\|_{L^2} \|w\|_{L^2} \le c\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}$$

by Proposition 3.2. So

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + 2\sum_{i} \|\tau_{i}\|_{L^{2}} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}} + \sum_{i} \|\tau_{i}\|_{L^{2}},$$

thus we obtain that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq (1 + c\sqrt{\varepsilon}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Together with (3.43) we obtain that

$$|I| \le \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} (1 + c\sqrt{\varepsilon}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(3.44)

This conclude the proof of Proposition 3.3.

4 Equations in the new coordinates

From Proposition 1.1, we know that, while the solution m of the Landau-Lifschitz equation (1.4) remains in a neighborhood of $\mathcal{M}^{\varepsilon}_{\delta}$, we can write m on the form

$$m(t,x) = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t),\sigma(t)) + w(t) + \nu(w(t))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t),\sigma(t)).$$

We plug this formula in (1.4). Concerning the time derivatives, we have:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[t\mapsto\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta(t),\sigma(t))\right] = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)\frac{d\theta_{i}}{dt} + \partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)\frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt}\right)$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[\nu(w(t))\right] = \nu'(w(t))(\frac{dw}{dt}(t)).$$

Using Proposition 2.1, we have:

$$h^{\varepsilon}(m) = f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) + \rho^{\theta, \sigma}_{\varepsilon} + h^{\varepsilon}(w) + \nu(w)(f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) + \rho^{\theta, \sigma}_{\varepsilon}) + 2\varepsilon v'(w)(\partial_{x}w)\partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon(\nu'(w)\partial_{xx}w + \nu''(w)(\partial_{x}w, \partial_{x}w))\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}.$$

In addition, in the i^{th} wall, *i.e.* in $[\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$,

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) = \mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}} \begin{pmatrix} (-1)^{i+1} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ \cos \varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

 $\mathbf{so},$

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1 = \partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_{1}) &= \quad \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} \cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\ (-1)^{i}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \quad \left[\frac{d\varphi_{\varepsilon}}{dx}(x-\sigma_{i}) - \beta_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\right]\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_{i}}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix} \cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\ (-1)^{i}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_{i})\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \quad (-1)^{i}\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)(x) + q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} = -\beta_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i)\mathbf{R}_{\frac{\theta_i}{\varepsilon}}\begin{pmatrix}\cos\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i)\\(-1)^i\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x-\sigma_i)\\0\end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$$

(see Lemma 2.1).

So we obtain that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} (1+\nu(w))\partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \frac{d\theta_{i}}{dt} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} (1+\nu(w))\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} + \nu'(w)(\frac{\partial w}{\partial t}) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} =$$

$$T_{1} + \ldots + T_{6},$$

$$(4.1)$$

with

•
$$T_1 = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}) = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

•
$$T_2 = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1 - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1) = h\sum_{i=1}^{N} (\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + (-1)^i \partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) + hq_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma},$$

• $T_3 = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w))$, where

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) = -h^{\varepsilon}(w) + f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w = -\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_1e_1 + f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w,$$

- $T_4 = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 \frac{h}{\varepsilon}(\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w + w_1\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}),$
- $T_5 = -w \times \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (w \times \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}) w \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma})$. This term is linear in w but exponentially small: $T_5 = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w).$
- T_6 is the non linear part for the variable w. We split it into 4 terms: $T_6 = T_{61} + \ldots + T_{64}$ with

$$\begin{split} T_{61} &= -\varepsilon(w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times (\partial_{xx}w + \nu'(w)(\partial_{xx}w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \\ &-\varepsilon(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times ((w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times (\partial_{xx}w + \nu'(w)(\partial_{xx}w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}))) \\ &-\varepsilon(w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\partial_{xx}w + \nu'(w)(\partial_{xx}w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}))), \end{split} \\ T_{62} &= -\varepsilon\nu''(w)(\partial_{x}w,\partial_{x}w)(w \times \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times (w \times \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}))), \end{aligned} \\ T_{63} &= -2\varepsilon\nu'(w)(\partial_{x}w) \left((\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times \partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times \partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right) + (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times ((\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times \partial_{x}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon})) , \end{aligned} \\ T_{64} &= -\nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \left(\frac{h}{\varepsilon}e_{1} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} + \nu(w)\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_{1}e_{1}\right) - w \times \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_{1}e_{1} + \nu(w)(f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma})\right) \\ &- \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\nu(w)\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}) - (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times \left[-w \times \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_{1}e_{1} + \nu(w)(f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma})\right)\right) \\ &- \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \left(\frac{h}{\varepsilon}e_{1} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} + \nu(w)\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_{1}e_{1}\right) - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\nu(w)\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}) \right] \\ &- (w + \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \times \left(w \times (f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}e_{1} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma}) + \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \frac{1}{\varepsilon}w_{1}e_{1}\right) \\ &- \nu(w)\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\frac{h}{\varepsilon}e_{1} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\theta,\sigma})). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore there exists K independent of ε such that

$$|T_{61}| \le K\varepsilon |w| |\partial_{xx}w|, \quad |T_{62}| \le K\varepsilon |\partial_xw|^2 |w|, \quad |T_{63}| \le K|w| |\partial_xw|, \quad |T_{64}| \le \frac{K}{\varepsilon} |w|^2.$$
(4.3)

(4.2)

In order to isolate the equation in each variable, we take the L^2 scalar product of the previous equation with $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ and with $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$. In this section, we assume that the applied field h is constant with respect to x in the walls $[\sigma_i - \delta, \sigma_i + \delta]$. From Assumption 1.14, this condition is realized while $|\sigma_i(t) - \sigma_i^{ref}(t)| \leq \delta$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$.

4.1 Equation for $\frac{d\theta_i}{dt}$ and $\frac{d\sigma_i}{dt}$

We first take the L^2 inner product of (4.1) with $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$. We remark that $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$, $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and that $\langle w | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$. In addition, we have

1.
$$\langle \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

2. $\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) + \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)) | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$ Indeed,
 $\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = -\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle$
 $= (-1)^{i+1} \langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle + \langle \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle$
 $= (-1)^{i+1} \langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) | w \rangle + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) (w)$
by integrations by parts.

Now we have the following proposition:

Proposition 4.1. For $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, for $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, on [-L, L],

$$h^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)) = f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}(x)\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma) + \partial_{\sigma_i}f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

and

$$h^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma)) = f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}(x)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\sigma) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

Proof. By taking the derivative of the expression of $h^{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma))$ with respect to σ_i and θ_i (see Proposition 2.1), we obtain directly the claimed results.

So, $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) = h^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) - f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \partial_{\sigma_{i}}f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}(\theta, \sigma) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, and since $\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w = 0$, we obtain that $\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | \partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w)$

In the same way,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)) | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle &= -\left\langle \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \\ &\text{since } \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = 0 \text{ and since } |\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}| = 1 \\ &= -\left\langle w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle \\ &= \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) \text{ by Proposition 4.1.} \end{split}$$

3. For all t, $\langle w | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$. We differentiate this equality with respect to t and we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle &= -\left\langle w | \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle \\ &= -\left\langle w | \partial_{\theta_i} \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \frac{d\theta_i}{dt} - \left\langle w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt}, \end{split}$$

and by (2.7), we get:

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \left(\frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) \right) \frac{d\theta_i}{dt} + \left(\frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) \right) \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt},$$

where

$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) = \left\langle \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \right\rangle = \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \cdot \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$
$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) = \left\langle \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | w \right\rangle = \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \cdot \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}.$$

4. We assume in this section that the applied field h(t, x) is constant equal to h_i in the wall i, so that we have:

$$\langle T_2 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \langle h \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$$
$$= \frac{2h_i}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

In addition,

So by projection of (4.1) on $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$, we obtain that

$$\left(\frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + (-1)^{i+1}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}Q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w)\right)\frac{d\theta_{i}}{dt} + \left((-1)^{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w)\right)\frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt} =$$

$$\frac{2h_{i}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + (-1)^{i+1}h_{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) - h_{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + \langle T_{6}|\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\rangle,$$

$$(4.4)$$

with

ε

$$Q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) = \varepsilon \langle \nu(w) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \varepsilon \int_{\sigma_{i} - \delta}^{\sigma_{i} + \delta} \nu(w) | \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} |^{2}.$$

In the same way, we take the scalar product of (4.1) with respect to $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$. As before, and basically with the same arguments, we remark that:

- 1. $\left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$ 2. $\langle \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) + \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)) | \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$
- 3. Taking the derivative with respect to t of the relation $\langle w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = 0$, we obtain that:

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle &= -\left\langle w | \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle \\ &= -\left\langle w | \partial_{\theta_i} \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \frac{d\theta_i}{dt} - \left\langle w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt} \\ &= \left(\frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} (w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) (w) \right) \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt} + \left(\frac{(-1)^i}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} (w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) (w) \right) \frac{d\theta_i}{dt}. \end{split}$$

4. The applied field h(t, x) is constant and equal to h_i in the wall *i*, so we have:

$$\langle T_2 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = (-1)^i \langle h \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$$
$$= (-1)^i \frac{2h_i}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

In addition,

So we obtain

$$\left((-1)^{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w)\right)\frac{d\theta_{i}}{dt} + \left(\frac{2}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + (-1)^{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w)\right)\frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt} =$$

$$(-1)^{i}\frac{2h_{i}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + (-1)^{i}h_{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) - h_{i}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + \langle T_{6}|\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\rangle,$$

$$(4.5)$$

with

$$Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) = \varepsilon \langle \nu(w) \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \varepsilon \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \nu(w) |\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^{2}.$$

We rewrite both equations (4.4) and (4.5) in the condensed form:

$$(I + L^{i}(w) + Q^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}))\frac{dv_{i}}{dt} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{i} \\ (-1)^{i}h_{i} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + h_{i}R^{i}(w) + F^{i},$$
(4.6)

where

$$\begin{split} v_i &= \begin{pmatrix} \theta_i \\ \sigma_i \end{pmatrix}, \ I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \\ L^i(w) &= \frac{(-1)^i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) & \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) \\ \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) & \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w), \\ Q^i(w) &= \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}Q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) \end{pmatrix}, \ R^i(w) &= \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) \\ -\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + \frac{(-1)^i}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) \end{pmatrix}, \\ F^i &= \begin{pmatrix} \langle T_6 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle \\ \langle T_6 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

We have the following estimates:

Proposition 4.2. There exists a constant K independent of ε such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $w \in H^1([0, L]; \mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$|\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)| + |\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)| \le K ||w||_{L^{\infty}}$$

and

$$|Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)| + |Q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)| \le K ||w||_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$

Proof. On the one hand, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} |\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w)| &= \left| \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot w \right| \\ &\leq \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \text{ by Proposition 2.2.} \end{aligned}$$

We estimate $\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)$ with the same arguments.

On the other hand,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) &= \varepsilon \int_{\sigma_{i}-\delta}^{\sigma_{i}+\delta} \nu(w) |\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \\ &\leq \|\nu(w)\|_{L^{\infty}} \left(2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\right) \\ &\leq K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The same holds for $Q_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)$.

Proposition 4.3. There exists $\nu_0 > 0$ such that if $||w||_{L^{\infty}} \leq \nu_0$, then for all ε small enough, the matrix $I + L^i(w) + Q^i(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ in Equation (4.6) is invertible and

$$\left(I + L^{i}(w) + Q^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\right)^{-1} = I - L^{i}(w) + \tilde{Q}^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$$

where

$$\left|\tilde{Q}^i(w)\right| \leq C \|w\|_{L^\infty}^2.$$

Proof. From Proposition 4.2, for ε small enough, if $||w||_{L^{\infty}}$ is small enough then $L^{i}(w) + Q^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ is a small perturbation of I, so $I + L^{i}(w) + Q^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ is invertible and writing the inverse on the form of a power series, we conclude the proof of Proposition 4.3.

From (4.6) and Proposition 4.3 we obtain that:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\theta_i}{dt} = h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \\ \frac{d\sigma_i}{dt} = (-1)^i h_i + a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i} - h_i \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w) + G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} G^{\theta_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \\ G^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i, \sigma_i, w) \end{pmatrix} = \left(I - L^i w + \tilde{Q}_i(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \right) \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \langle T_6 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle \\ \langle T_6 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ h_i \left(-L^i w + \tilde{Q}^i(w) \right) R^i w + h_i \tilde{Q}^i(w) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ (-1)^i \end{pmatrix},$$

and where $a_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}, a_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}, l_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$ and $l_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$ of order $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$.

The non linear terms $G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}$ and $G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}$ can be estimated as follows:

Proposition 4.4. There exists a constant K independent of $\varepsilon > 0$, such that for all θ and all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$,

$$|G_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(\theta_i,\sigma_i,w)| + |G_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(\theta_i,\sigma_i,w)| \le K\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 + \varepsilon \|\partial_x w\|_{L^2}^2\right) \le K \|w\|_{\varepsilon}^2.$$

Proof. On the one hand, from Proposition 4.2, we have:

 $|L^{i}w| \leq K ||w||_{L^{\infty}}$ and $|R^{i}w| \leq K ||w||_{L^{\infty}}$.

In addition, with Proposition 4.3,

$$|\tilde{Q}^i(w)| \le K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$

Let us estimate $\varepsilon \langle T_6 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$. We recall that $T_6 = T_{61} + \ldots + T_{64}$ (see (4.2) at the beginning of Section 4). The first term T_{c1} writes $T_{c1} = \varepsilon a(x, \varepsilon, w)(\partial_{x-}w)$ where $a : [0, L] \times [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ is smooth

The first term T_{61} writes $T_{61} = \varepsilon g(x, \varepsilon, w)(\partial_{xx}w)$, where $g: [0, L] \times]0, 1[\times \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ is smooth in its variables, with

$$|g| \le K|w|, \quad |\partial_x g| \le K|\partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}| |w| \quad \text{and } |\partial_w g| \le K.$$

We have:

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T_{61} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle &= \varepsilon \left\langle g(x,\varepsilon,w) \partial_{xx} w | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \\ &= \varepsilon \left\langle \partial_{xx} w |^{\tau} g(x,\varepsilon,w) \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \\ &= -\varepsilon \left\langle \partial_x w | \partial_x (^{\tau} g(x,\varepsilon,w) \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle \\ &= \tau_1 + \tau_2 + \tau_3, \end{split}$$

where each τ_i is defined and estimated in the following way, using that $\|\partial_x \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \frac{K}{\varepsilon}$ and that $\|\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2} \le \frac{K}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}$ (see Proposition 2.2):

$$\begin{split} \tau_{1} &= -\varepsilon \langle \partial_{x} w |^{\tau} \partial_{x} g(x, \varepsilon, w) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \\ |\tau_{1}| \leq K\varepsilon ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}} ||\partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{K}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}}, \\ \tau_{2} &= -\varepsilon \langle \partial_{x} w |^{\tau} \partial_{w} g(x, \varepsilon, w) (\partial_{x} w) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \\ |\tau_{2}| \leq K\varepsilon ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}}^{2} ||\partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq K ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}}^{2}, \\ \tau_{3} &= -\varepsilon \langle \partial_{x} w |^{\tau} g(x, \varepsilon, w) \partial_{x} \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \\ |\tau_{3}| \leq K\varepsilon ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}} ||\partial_{x} \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq K ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}} ||\sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{2}} \text{ by (2.7)} \\ &\leq \frac{K}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||\partial_{x} w||_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

Concerning T_{62} , T_{63} and T_{64} , Estimate (4.3) yields:

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle T_{62} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle| &\leq K \varepsilon \| \partial_x w \|_{L^2}^2 \| w \|_{L^{\infty}} \| \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq K \| \partial_x w \|_{L^2}^2 \| w \|_{L^{\infty}}, \\ |\langle T_{63} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle| &\leq K \| \partial_x w \|_{L^2} \| w \|_{L^{\infty}} \| \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \frac{K}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \| \partial_x w \|_{L^2} \| w \|_{L^{\infty}}, \\ |\langle T_{64} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle| &\leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon} \| w \|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \| \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^1} \\ &\leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon} \| w \|_{L^{\infty}}^2. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\left|\varepsilon \langle T_6 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle \right| \le K \left(\|w\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \varepsilon \|\partial_x w\|_{L^2}^2 \right).$$

So since the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\varepsilon}$ controls the L^{∞} norm, we obtain that

$$|\varepsilon \langle T_6 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle| \leq K ||w||_{\varepsilon}^2.$$

With the same arguments we estimate $\varepsilon \langle T_6 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ and we conclude the proof of Proposition 4.4.

4.2 Equation for w

Plugging (4.7) in (4.1), since $-\frac{h}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_i \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$ and $-\frac{h}{\varepsilon}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times e_1) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^i h_i \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})$, we obtain the following equation for w:

$$\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} + \nu'(w) \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial t}\right) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \Lambda_{\varepsilon} + P_{\varepsilon}w + l^{\varepsilon}w + Z^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma), \tag{4.8}$$

where

• the linear operator Λ_{ε} is given by

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon} w = -\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) - \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times (\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)),$$

• the linear perturbation due to the applied magnetic field writes

$$P_{\varepsilon}w = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}w_1\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}\sin\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(w)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + h\varepsilon\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(w)\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$

• l_{ε} is an exponentially small linear operator on w:

$$||l^{\varepsilon}w||_{L^{2}} \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{o}{4\varepsilon}})||w||_{L^{\infty}},$$

• the non linear term $H^{\varepsilon}(w, \theta, \sigma)$ is given by

$$Z^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma) = T_{6} - \nu(w)\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(G^{\theta_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_{i},\sigma_{i},w)\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + G^{\sigma_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_{i},\sigma_{i},w)\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right)$$
$$-\nu(w)\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h_{i} - h_{i}\Pi^{\sigma_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + G^{\theta_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_{i},\sigma_{i},w) \right) \partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$$
$$-\nu(w)\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left((-1)^{i}h_{i} - h_{i}\Pi^{\sigma_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + G^{\sigma_{i}}_{\varepsilon}(\theta_{i},\sigma_{i},w) \right) \partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}.$$

In order to inverse the left hand side term in (4.8), we claim without proof (left to the reader) the following lemma:

Lemma 4.1. There exists ν_0 such that for all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all t, x, if $||w||_{L^{\infty}} \leq \nu_0$ then the linear operator

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \chi: I\!\!R^3 & \to & I\!\!R^3 \\ \xi & \mapsto & \xi + \nu'(w)(\xi) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \end{array}$$

is invertible and $\chi^{-1} = Id + V^{\varepsilon}(w)$ where

$$\|V^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

where K does not depend neither on ε nor on w.

Using Lemma 4.1 in (4.8) we obtain the following equation for w:

$$\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = a_{\varepsilon} + \Lambda_{\varepsilon} w + P_{\varepsilon} w + l^{\varepsilon} w + G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)$$
(4.9)

where

- $a_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}),$
- the linear operators Λ_{ε} and P_{ε} are defined above,
- l_{ε} is an exponentially small linear operator on w:

$$\|l^{\varepsilon}w\|_{L^{2}} \leq \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\|w\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

• the non linear term $G^{\varepsilon}(w, \theta, \sigma)$ is obtained from $Z_{\varepsilon}(w, \theta, \sigma)$:

$$G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma) = Z_{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma) + V^{\varepsilon}(w) \left(\Lambda_{\varepsilon}w + P_{\varepsilon}w + l^{\varepsilon}w + Z_{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)\right).$$

From the expressions of G^{ε} and Z_{ε} , with the estimates on T_6 , since the $\|\cdot\|_{\varepsilon}$ norm controls the L^{∞} norm, we obtain the following proposition:

Proposition 4.5. There exists K such that for all ε , for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$ and $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$, the following estimate holds

$$\|G^{\varepsilon}(w,\theta,\sigma)\|_{L^{2}} \leq K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \left(\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|w\|_{L^{2}}\right).$$

$$(4.10)$$

5 Meta Stability for a general applied field

In this section, we assume that the applied magnetic field satisfies (1.11) and (1.13) but is not constant in the walls. Starting from Equation (4.1), we aim to obtain an equivalent equation on the new variables (θ, σ, w) by projection on $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$. We proceed as in Sections 3 and 4, and we only detail the changes due to the fact that Assumption (1.14) is not yet satisfied.

5.1 New coordinates for the non constant applied field case

The applied field h appears in the terms T_2 and T_4 of equation (4.1). We denote by $h_i(t) = h(t, \sigma_i(t))$, and we write the Taylor expansion of h in the wall i,

$$h(t,x) = h_i(t) + (x - \sigma_i)\gamma_i(t) + (x - \sigma_i)^2 K_i(t,x),$$

where, by assumption (1.11),

$$|K_i(t,x)| \le M \text{ in a neighborhood of } \sigma_i.$$
(5.11)

Concerning T_2 , on the one hand, we have:

$$\langle T_2 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \langle h \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

Now, using the Taylor expansion of h, we have that

$$\langle h\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = h_i(t) \langle \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle + \gamma_i(t) \int_{\sigma_i - \delta}^{\sigma_i + \delta} (x - \sigma_i) |\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^2 dx$$

$$+ \int_{\sigma_i - \delta}^{\sigma_i + \delta} (x - \sigma_i)^2 K_i(t, x) |\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^2.$$

The second term in the right hand side is vanishing since $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ is even, so we obtain that

$$\left\langle T_2 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{2}{\varepsilon} h_i + 2\varepsilon r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(t),$$

with

$$r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(t) = \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{\sigma_i - \delta}^{\sigma_i + \delta} (x - \sigma_i)^2 K_i(t, x) |\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}).$$

This term is bounded, that is there exists K such that $|r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i}(t)| \leq K$. Indeed, using (5.11) and the estimates on $\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ in Section 2.1:

$$\left|\frac{1}{2\varepsilon}\int_{\sigma_i-\delta}^{\sigma_i+\delta} (x-\sigma_i)^2 K_i(t,x) |\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^2\right| \leq \frac{M}{2\varepsilon}\int_{-\delta}^{\delta} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \frac{|x|^2}{\cosh^2(x/\varepsilon)} dx$$
$$\leq M \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{z^2}{\cosh^2 z} dz.$$

On the other hand, by the same arguments, we have:

$$\langle T_2 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = (-1)^i \frac{2}{\varepsilon} h_i + 2\varepsilon r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(t),$$

with $|r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_i}(t)| \leq K$.

Concerning T_4 , we introduce the operators $\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_i}$ and $\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_i}$ defined for $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$ by

$$\Pi^{h,\theta_i}_{\varepsilon}(w) = \left\langle h \sin \varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \quad \text{and} \ \Pi^{h,\sigma_i}_{\varepsilon}(w) = \left\langle h \sin \varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle.$$

We have

$$\langle T_4 | \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_i}(w) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w),$$

and

$$\langle T_4 | \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \rangle = (-1)^i \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_i}(w) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w).$$

As in Proposition 4.2, using assumption (1.13), we prove that there exists a constant K such that

$$\left|\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_{i}}(w)\right| + \left|\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_{i}}(w)\right| \le K \|w\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(5.12)

Using the same notations as in (4.6) we obtain that

$$\left(I + L^{i}(w) + Q^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})\right) \frac{dv_{i}}{dt} = h_{i} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ (-1)^{i} \end{pmatrix} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{i} + \lambda^{i}(w) + F^{i},$$
(5.13)

where

$$r_{\varepsilon}^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}} \\ r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \lambda^{i}(w) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_{i}}(w) + \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_{i}}(w) \\ -\frac{1}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_{i}}(w) + \frac{(-1)^{i}}{2}\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_{i}}(w) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w).$$

With Proposition 4.3 we obtain that $v_i = (\theta_i, \sigma_i)$ satisfies

$$\frac{dv_i}{dt} = h_i \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ (-1)^i \end{pmatrix} + \varepsilon^2 r_{\varepsilon}^i + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \mathcal{L}^i(w) + \mathcal{G}^i(w),$$
(5.14)

where

$$\mathcal{L}^{i}(w) = \lambda^{i}(w) - h_{i}L^{i}(w) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ (-1)^{i} \end{pmatrix} - \varepsilon^{2}L^{i}(w)r_{\varepsilon}^{i} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) := \mathcal{L}_{1}^{i}(w) + \mathcal{L}_{2}^{i}(w) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w)$$

with

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}^{i}(w) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} \left(\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_{i}}(w) + h_{i} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) \right) + \frac{(-1)^{i+1}}{2} \left(\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_{i}}(w) - h_{i} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) \right) \\\\ \frac{(-1)^{i}}{2} \left(\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\theta_{i}}(w) - h_{i} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\Pi_{\varepsilon}^{h,\sigma_{i}}(w) + h_{i} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) \right) \\\\ \mathcal{L}_{2}^{i}(w) = -\frac{(-1)^{i}\varepsilon^{2}}{4} \begin{pmatrix} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) + r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) \\\\ r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}(w) + r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}} \Pi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}(w) \end{pmatrix}, \end{cases}$$

and where

$$\mathcal{G}^{i}(w) = (I + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}))F^{i} + \tilde{Q}^{i}(w)\left(h_{i}\begin{pmatrix}1\\(-1)^{i}\end{pmatrix} + \varepsilon^{2}r_{\varepsilon}^{i} + \lambda^{i}(w) + F^{i}\right) - L^{i}(w)\left(\lambda^{i}(w) + F^{i}\right).$$

The linear part $\mathcal{L}^{i}(w)$ and the non linear term \mathcal{G}^{i} can be estimated as the linear and the non linear parts of (4.7) (see Propositions 4.2 and 4.4):

Proposition 5.1. There exists a constant K independent of $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $w \in W_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon}$,

$$|\mathcal{L}^{i}(w)| \leq K ||w||_{\varepsilon} \text{ and } |\mathcal{G}^{i}(w)| \leq K ||w||_{\varepsilon}^{2}.$$

Now when we plug (5.14) in (4.1), the term T_2 is not yet cancelled by $h_i \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + (-1)^i h_i \partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$, and we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} + \nu'(w) (\frac{\partial w}{\partial t}) \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} &= \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}\right) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) \\ &+ \Lambda^{\varepsilon} w + \overline{P^{\varepsilon}}(w) + \overline{Z^{\varepsilon}}(w, \theta, \sigma), \end{split}$$

with

$$\overline{P^{\varepsilon}}(w) = -\frac{h}{\varepsilon}w \times e_1 - \frac{h}{\varepsilon}(\sin\varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon}w + w_1\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{L}_1^i(w)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{L}_2^i(w)\partial_{\sigma_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$

and

$$\overline{Z^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma) = T_{6} - \nu(w)\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\mathcal{G}^{i,1}(w)\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{G}^{i}, 2(w)\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right)$$
$$-\nu(w)\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2}r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}} + \mathcal{L}^{i,1}(w) + \mathcal{G}^{i,1}(w)\right)\partial_{\theta_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$$
$$-\nu(w)\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left((-1)^{i}h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2}r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}} + \mathcal{L}^{i,2}(w) + \mathcal{G}^{i,2}(w)\right)\partial_{\sigma_{i}}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}.$$

By Using Lemma 4.3, we obtain the following equation on w:

$$\frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = A_{\varepsilon} + \Lambda^{\varepsilon} w + \overline{P^{\varepsilon}}(w) + l^{\varepsilon}(w) + \overline{G^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma)$$
(5.15)

where

$$A_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}\right) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon},$$
$$l^{\varepsilon}(w) = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + V^{\varepsilon}(w) \left(\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}}\right) \partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}}\right) \partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right),$$
and

an

$$\overline{G^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma) = \overline{Z^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma) + V(w) \left(\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})(w) + \Lambda^{\varepsilon}w + \overline{P^{\varepsilon}}(w) + \overline{Z^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma) \right).$$

We have the following estimates:

Proposition 5.2. There exists a constant K such that for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, for all $\sigma \in \Sigma_{\delta}$, for all $w \in \mathcal{W}_{\theta,\sigma}^{\varepsilon},$

- $||A_{\varepsilon}||_{L^2} \leq K\sqrt{\varepsilon},$
- $||l^{\varepsilon}(w)||_{L^2} \leq K\sqrt{\varepsilon}||w||_{\varepsilon}$,

•
$$\|\overline{G^{\varepsilon}}(w,\theta,\sigma)\|_{L^2} \leq K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \left(\|\varepsilon\partial_{xx}w\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|w\|_{L^2} \right).$$

Proof. We remark that, using the Taylor expansion of h in the wall i, there exists a constant K such that $|h(t,x) - h_i(t)| \le K|x - \sigma_i|$. So

$$\begin{split} \|(h-h_i)\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2 &\leq K \int_{\sigma_i-\delta}^{\sigma_i+\delta} (x-\sigma_i)^2 |\partial_{\theta_i}\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}|^2 \\ &\leq K \int_{\sigma_i-\delta/2}^{\sigma_i+\delta/2} (x-\sigma_i)^2 \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2 \cosh^2(\frac{x-\sigma_i}{\varepsilon})} dx + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \\ &\leq K\varepsilon \int_{I\!\!R} \frac{z^2}{\cosh^2 z} dz + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) \\ &\leq K\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

In addition,

$$\|\varepsilon^2 r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_i} \partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2} \le \varepsilon^2 \|\partial_{\theta_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2} \le K \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

with Proposition 2.2. The same estimates hold for the term concerning $\partial_{\sigma_i} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$ in A_{ε} . Therefore

$$\|A_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2} \le K\sqrt{\varepsilon}.$$

Concerning $l^{\varepsilon}(w)$, we have:

$$\begin{split} \|l^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq \|V^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{\infty}} \left(\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \|(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\theta_{i}})\partial_{\theta_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \|(h - h_{i} + \varepsilon^{2} r_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma_{i}})\partial_{\sigma_{i}} \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}} \right) \\ &\leq C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \text{ from Lemma 4.1} \\ &\leq C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$

The expression of $\overline{G^{\varepsilon}}(w, \theta, \sigma)$, the estimates on T_6 together with Corollary 3.2 yield the claimed estimate on $\overline{G^{\varepsilon}}$.

5.2 Estimates for Theorem 1.1

We take the inner product of (5.15) with $\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)$. Since

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle = \langle \frac{dw}{dt}|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\frac{d\sigma_{i}}{dt}\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}}f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}w|w\rangle,$$

we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\times\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \bar{M}_{1} + \ldots + \bar{M}_{5}, \qquad (5.16)$$

with

•
$$\bar{M}_1 = \langle A_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle,$$

• $\bar{M}_2 = \overline{P^{\varepsilon}}(w) | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^i h_i \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | w \rangle,$
• $\bar{M}_3 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\varepsilon^2 r^{\sigma_i}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{\delta}{4\varepsilon}})) \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | w \rangle,$
• $\bar{M}_4 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\mathcal{L}_2^i(w) + \mathcal{G}_2^i(w)) \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | w \rangle,$
• $\bar{M}_5 = \langle \overline{G^{\varepsilon}}(w, \theta, \sigma) | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle.$

Using Proposition 5.2 we have

$$|\bar{M}_1| \le K\sqrt{\varepsilon} ||m^{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)||_{L^2},$$

and

$$|\overline{M}_5| \leq K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} |\bar{M}_{3}| &\leq K \varepsilon^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq K \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \text{ since } \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{K}{\varepsilon^{2}} \\ &\leq K \varepsilon^{2} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \text{ with Corollary 3.2.} \\ \bar{M}_{4}| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\mathcal{L}_{2}^{i}(w) + \mathcal{G}_{2}^{i}(w)| \|\partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \end{split}$$

In addition,

$$\begin{aligned} |M_4| &\leq \quad \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\mathcal{L}_2^i(w) + \mathcal{G}_2^i(w)| \|\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\leq \quad K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 \text{ by Proposition 5.1} \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq K \|w\|_{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2$$
 with Corollary 3.2

In order to estimate \bar{M}_2 we aim to split \bar{M}_2 : $\bar{M}_2 = \bar{M}_{21} + \bar{M}_{22}$ with

$$\bar{M}_{21} = \left\langle -\frac{h}{\varepsilon} w \times e_1 | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle - \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} w_1 \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle,$$
$$\bar{M}_{22} = -\left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_i \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f^{\sigma}_{\varepsilon} w | w \right\rangle.$$

The first term is estimated as in Section 3.3 (see terms P_1 and P_2):

$$|\bar{M}_{21}| \leq K\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$

To estimate \bar{M}_{22} , we use the IMS formula. In the wall *i*, we split *h* in $(h - h_i) + h_i$. The part $\langle \frac{h_i}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_i w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\chi_i w) \rangle$ will be estimated together with $h_i \langle \partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \chi_i w | \chi_i w \rangle$ as in Section 3.3. In order to argue that the remainder term with $h - h_i$ is small, we must reduce the support of χ_i . Therefore we use another system of cut-off functions.

Let us introduce $\bar{\chi}_0, \ldots, \bar{\chi}_N$ such that

• supp
$$\bar{\chi}_0 \subset [0,L] \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^N [\sigma_i - \sqrt{\varepsilon}, \sigma_i + \sqrt{\varepsilon}],$$

• supp $\bar{\chi}_i \subset [\sigma_i - 2\sqrt{\varepsilon}, \sigma_i + 2\sqrt{\varepsilon}]$ for $i \neq 0$,

•
$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \bar{\chi}_i^2 = 1,$$

•
$$\|\partial_x \bar{\chi}_i\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}},$$

•
$$\|\partial_{xx}\bar{\chi}_i\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C}{\varepsilon}.$$

We plug the cut-off functions in \overline{M}_{22} . We obtain:

$$\bar{M}_{22} = -\sum_{i=0}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \bar{\chi}_{i}^{2} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_{i} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \bar{\chi}_{i}^{2} | w \right\rangle$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_{i} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \bar{\chi}_{0}^{2} | w \right\rangle,$$

since now the support of $\partial_{\sigma_i} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}$ intersects the support of $\bar{\chi}_0$. As we remarked in Section 3.3,

$$-\sum_{i=0}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \bar{\chi}_{i}^{2} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \right\rangle = -\sum_{i=0}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \bar{\chi}_{i} | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i}w) \right\rangle$$
$$-\left\langle h \sum_{i=0}^{N} |\partial_{x} \bar{\chi}_{i}|^{2} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \right\rangle.$$

Hence we split \overline{M}_{22} is the following way:

$$\bar{M}_{22} = \Psi_0 + \Psi_1 + \Psi_2 + \sum_{i=1}^N \Psi_{3i} + \Psi_4,$$

with

•
$$\Psi_{0} = \left\langle -\frac{h}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \bar{\chi}_{0} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{0} w) \right\rangle,$$

•
$$\Psi_{1} = -\left\langle h \sum_{i=0}^{N} |\partial_{x} \bar{\chi}_{i}|^{2} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w | w \right\rangle,$$

•
$$\Psi_{2} = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle \frac{h-h_{i}}{\varepsilon} \sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \bar{\chi}_{i} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i} w) \right\rangle,$$

•
$$\Psi_{3i} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_{i} \left(-\left\langle \frac{\sin \varphi_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma}}{\varepsilon} \bar{\chi}_{i} w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i} w) \right\rangle + \frac{(-1)^{i}}{2} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} \bar{\chi}_{i} w | \bar{\chi}_{i} w \right\rangle \right),$$

•
$$\Psi_{4} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} h_{i} \left\langle \partial_{\sigma_{i}} f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} w \bar{\chi}_{0}^{2} | w \right\rangle.$$

Concerning the term Ψ_0 , we remark that on the support of $\bar{\chi}_0$,

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \pm e_1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}),$$
$$f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}).$$

Therefore with the same arguments as for I_0 in Section 3.3, we obtain that:

$$|\Psi_0| \le (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}) \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_0 w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.17)

For the term Ψ_1 , we remark that $\|\bar{\chi}_i\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}$ so that

$$|\Psi_1| \le C \frac{\|h\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\varepsilon} \|w\|_{L^2}^2 \le C\varepsilon \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2,$$
(5.18)

with Corollary 3.2.

In the support of $\bar{\chi}_i$ then, with Assumption (1.13), $|h - h_i| \leq K\sqrt{\varepsilon}$, so

$$|\Psi_2| \le \frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \|\bar{\chi}_i w\|_{L^2} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_i w)\|_{L^2} \le C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_i w)\|_{L^2}^2,$$
(5.19)

The terms Ψ_{3i} are estimated as the terms $I_{1,i}$ in Section 3.3:

$$|\Psi_{3i}| \le ||h||_{L^{\infty}} ||\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i}w)||_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(5.20)

The last term Ψ_4 is small since on the support of $\bar{\chi}_0$, $\partial_x f_{\varepsilon}^{\sigma} = \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}})$, so

$$|\Psi_4| \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}) \|w\|_{L^2}^2 \le \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.21)

Combining Estimates (5.18), (5.19), (5.20) and (5.21) we obtain that

$$\left|\bar{M}_{22}\right| \le (1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}}) \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{i=0}^{N} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i}w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(5.22)

It remains to compare $\sum_{i=0}^{N} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i}w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$ with $\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$. As in the end of Section 3.3 we have:

$$\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_i w) = \bar{\chi}_i \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) + \bar{\tau}_i$$

with $\bar{\tau}_i = -2\varepsilon \partial_x \bar{\chi}_i \partial_x w - \varepsilon \partial_{xx} \bar{\chi}_i w$, and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\bar{\tau}_{i}\|_{L^{2}} &\leq c\varepsilon \|\partial_{x}\bar{\chi}_{i}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\partial_{x}w\|_{L^{2}} + c\varepsilon \|\partial_{xx}\bar{\chi}_{i}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq c\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\partial_{x}w\|_{L^{2}} + c\|w\|_{L^{2}} \text{ from the estimates on the derivatives of } \bar{\chi}_{i} \\ &\leq c\sqrt{\varepsilon} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}} \text{ with Corollary 3.2.} \end{aligned}$$

Therefore with the same method as in Section 3.3, we obtain that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\chi}_{i}w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq (1 + c\sqrt{\varepsilon}) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Hence we obtain that:

$$\left|\bar{M}_{22}\right| \le \left(\|h\|_{L^{\infty}} + c\sqrt{\varepsilon}\right) \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(5.23)

From (5.16), we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\times\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq C\sqrt{\varepsilon}\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\times\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}} + \left(\|h\|_{L^{\infty}} + c\sqrt{\varepsilon} + K\|w\|_{\varepsilon}\right)\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\times\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Now we assumed that $||h||_{L^{\infty}} \leq 1 - 3\tau$ so we obtain, using the Young inequality for the first right hand side term:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \left(2\tau - c\sqrt{\varepsilon} - K\|w\|_{\varepsilon}\right)\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{C}{\tau}\varepsilon + \tau\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

that is

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \left(\tau - c\sqrt{\varepsilon} - K\|w\|_{\varepsilon}\right)\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{C}{\tau}\varepsilon.$$

So for ε small enough, while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , we have:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\rangle + \left(\frac{\tau}{2} - K\|w\|_{\varepsilon}\right)\|\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \times \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{C}{\tau}\varepsilon,$$

and while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $||w||_{\varepsilon} \leq \frac{\tau}{4K}$, using Proposition 3.2, we have:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\big\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\big\rangle + \frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{4\varepsilon}\big\langle w|\mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w)\big\rangle \leq \frac{C}{\tau}\varepsilon.$$

By comparison argument, we obtain then that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $\|w\|_{\varepsilon} \leq \frac{\tau}{4K}$

$$\langle w | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w) \rangle \leq \frac{4C}{\tau(1-\tau)} e^2 + \langle w_0 | \mathcal{H}^{\varepsilon}(w_0) \rangle e^{-\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{2\varepsilon}t}.$$

Plugging this inequality in (5.14) we obtain that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $||w||_{\varepsilon} \leq \frac{\tau}{4K}$,

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}(\theta_i - \theta_i^{ref})\right| + \left|\frac{d}{dt}(\sigma_i - \sigma_i^{ref})\right| \le K\varepsilon^2 + C \|w_0\|_{\varepsilon}^2 e^{-\frac{\tau(1-\tau)}{2\varepsilon}t},$$

and by integration in time we obtain

$$\left|\theta_{i}-\theta_{i}^{ref}\right|(t)+\left|\sigma_{i}-\sigma_{i}^{ref}\right|(t)\leq\left|\theta_{i}-\theta_{i}^{ref}\right|(0)+\left|\sigma_{i}-\sigma_{i}^{ref}\right|(0)+K\varepsilon^{2}t+K\varepsilon\|w_{0}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2}.$$

So on the time interval $[0, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}]$, we have that while σ remains in Σ_{δ} , while $||w||_{\varepsilon} \leq \frac{\tau}{4K}$,

$$\|w(t)\|_{\varepsilon} \le c\|w_0\|_{\varepsilon} + K\varepsilon$$

and

$$\left|\theta_{i}-\theta_{i}^{ref}\right|(t)+\left|\sigma_{i}-\sigma_{i}^{ref}\right|(t)\leq\left|\theta_{i}-\theta_{i}^{ref}\right|(0)+\left|\sigma_{i}-\sigma_{i}^{ref}\right|(0)+K\varepsilon+K\varepsilon\|w_{0}\|_{\varepsilon}^{2},$$

so we conclude the proof of Theorem 1.2 with the same arguments as for Theorem 1.3.

Acknowledgements. It is my pleasure to thank Vincent Bruneau and Jean-François Bony of the Institut de Mathématiques de Bordeaux for their helpful suggestions.

References

- François Alouges and Stéphane Labbé, Convergence of a ferromagnetic film model, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 344 (2007), no. 2, 77–82.
- [2] François Alouges, Tristan Rivière and Sylvia Serfaty, Néel and cross-tie wall energies for planar micromagnetic configurations. A tribute to J. L. Lions, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 8 (2002), 31–68.
- [3] François Alouges and Alain Soyeur, On global weak solutions for Landau-Lifshitz equations: existence and nonuniqueness, Nonlinear Anal. 18 (1992), no. 11, 1071–1084.
- [4] L'ubomír Baňas, Sören Bartels and Andreas Prohl, A convergent implicit finite element discretization of the Maxwell-Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 46 (2008), no. 3, 1399–1422.
- [5] Fabrice Béthuel, Didier Smets and Giandomenico Orlandi, Slow motion for gradient systems with equal depth multiple-well potentials, preprint.
- [6] Fabrice Boust, Nicolas Vukadinovic and Stéphane Labbé, 3D dynamic micromagnetic simulations of susceptibility spectra in soft ferromagnetic particles, ESAIM-Proc 22 (2008), 127–131.
- [7] Lia Bronsard and Robert Kohn, On the slowness of phase boundary motion in one space dimension, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 43 (1990) 983–997.
- [8] William F. Brown, Micromagnetics, Wiley, New York (1963).
- [9] Gilles Carbou, Stability of static walls for a three-dimensional model of ferromagnetic material, J. Math. Pures Appl. 93 (2010), no.2, 183–203.
- [10] Gilles Carbou and Pierre Fabrie, *Time average in micromagnetism*, J. Differential Equations 147 (1998), no. 2, 383–409.
- [11] Gilles Carbou and Pierre Fabrie, Regular solutions for Landau-Lifschitz equation in a bounded domain, Differential Integral Equations 14 (2001), no. 2, 213–229.

- [12] Gilles Carbou and Pierre Fabrie, Regular solutions for Landau-Lifschitz equation in IR³, Commun. Appl. Anal. 5 (2001), no. 1, 17–30
- [13] Gilles Carbou, Pierre Fabrie and Olivier Guès, On the ferromagnetism equations in the non static case, Comm. Pure Appli. Anal. 3 (2004), 367–393.
- [14] Gilles Carbou and Stéphane Labbé, Stability for static walls in ferromagnetic nanowires, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 6 (2006), no. 2, 273–290.
- [15] Gilles Carbou and Stéphane Labbé, *Stabilization of Walls for Nano-Wires of Finite Length*, to appear in ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var.
- [16] Gilles Carbou, Stéphane Labbé and Emmanuel Trélat, Control of travelling walls in a ferromagnetic nanowire, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. (2007), suppl.
- [17] J. Carr and R. Pego, Metastable patterns in solutions of $u_t = \epsilon^2 u_{xx} f(u)$, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), no. 5, 523–576.
- [18] H. Cycon, R. Froese, W. Kirsch, B. Simon, Schrödinger operators with application to quantum mechanics and global geometry. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, Springer 1987.
- [19] Antonio Desimone, Robert Kohn, Stephan Müller and Felix Otto, Repulsive interaction of Néel walls, and the internal length scale of the cross-tie wall, Multiscale Model. Simul. 1 (2003), no. 1, 57–104 (electronic).
- [20] Antonio DeSimone, Robert Kohn, Stephan Müller, Felix Otto and Rudolf Schäfer, Twodimensional modelling of soft ferromagnetic films, R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 457 (2001), no. 2016, 2983–2991.
- [21] Shijin Ding, Boling Guo, Junyu Lin and Ming Zeng, Global existence of weak solutions for Landau-Lifshitz-Maxwell equations, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 17 (2007), no. 4, 867–890.
- [22] Olivier Guès and Franck Sueur, On 3D domain walls for the Landau Lifshitz equations, Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ. 4 (2007), no. 2, 143–165.
- [23] Boling Guo and Fengqiu Su, Global weak solution for the Landau-Lifshitz-Maxwell equation in three space dimensions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 211 (1997), no. 1, 326–346.
- [24] Katarina Kühn, Moving domain walls in magnetic nanowires. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 26 (2009), no. 4, 13451360.
- [25] Katarina Kühn, Travelling waves with a singularity in magnetic nanowires. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 34 (2009), no. 7-9, 722764.
- [26] Laurence Halpern and Stéphane Labbé, Modélisation et simulation du comportement des matériaux ferromagétiques, Matapli 66 (2001), 70–86.
- [27] Rida Jizzini, Optimal stability criterion for a wall in ferromagnetic wire submitted to a magnetic field, to appear in J. Diff. Equations.
- [28] Stéphane Labbé. Simulation numérique du comportement hyperfréquence des matériaux ferromagnétiques. Thèse de l'Université Paris 13 (1998).
- [29] Stéphane Labbé, A preconditionning strategy for microwave susceptibility in ferromagnets, AES & CAS 38 (2007), 312–319.
- [30] Stéphane Labbé, Fast computation for large magnetostatic systems adapted for micromagnetism, SISC SIAM J. on Sci. Comp. 26 (2005), no. 6, 2160–2175.
- [31] Stéphane Labbé and Pierre-Yves Bertin, Microwave polarisability of ferrite particles with nonuniform magnetization, Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials 206 (1999), 93–105.

- [32] Stéphane Labbé, Yannick Privat and Emmanuel Trélat, Stability properties of steady-states for a network of ferromagnetic nanowires., submitted.
- [33] Felix Otto and Maria G. Reznikoff, Slow motion of gradient flows, J. Differential Equations 237 (2007), no. 2, 372–420.
- [34] Tristan Rivière and Sylvia Serfaty, Limiting domain wall energy for a problem related to micromagnetics, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 54 (2001), no. 3, 294–338.
- [35] David Sanchez, behavior of the Landau-Lifschitz equation in a ferromagnetic wire, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 32 (2009), no. 2, 167–205.
- [36] Norman L. Schryer and Laurence R. Walker, The motion of 180° domain walls in uniform dc magnetic fields, Journal of Applied Physics 45 (1974), no. 12, 5406–5421.
- [37] Stuart S. P. Parkin, Masamitsu Hayashi and Luc Thomas, Magnetic Domain-Wall Racetrack Memory, Science 320 (2008), 190–194.
- [38] A. Thiaville and Y. Nakatani, *Domain wall dynamics in nanowires and nanostrips*, Spin dynamics in confined magnetic structures III, B. Hillebrands, A. Thiaville Eds. Topics in Applied Physics 101, pp. 161-206 (Springer, 2006)
- [39] Nicolas Vukadinovic, Fabrice Boust and Stéphane Labbé, Domain wall resonant modes in nanodots with a perpendicular anisotropy, JMMM 310 (2007), no. 2:3, 2324–2326.
- [40] Augusto Visintin, On Landau Lifschitz equation for ferromagnetism, Japan Journal of Applied Mathematics 1 (1985), no. 2, 69-84.
- [41] Laurence R. Walker, Bell Telephone Laboratories Memorandum, 1956 (unpublished). An account of this work is to be found in J.F. Dillon, Jr., Magnetism Vol III, edited by G.T. Rado and H. Subl, Academic, New York, 1963.